Backward Bifurcation in HCV Transmission Dynamics

by

Fereshteh Nazari

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Mathematics University of Manitoba

Winnipeg

Copyright \bigodot 2014 by Fereshteh Nazari

Abstract

The thesis is based on the use of mathematical theories and techniques to gain qualitative and quantitative insight into the transmission dynamics of hepatitis C virus (HCV) in an IDU (injecting drug user) population. A deterministic model, which stratifies the IDU population into eight mutually-exclusive compartments (based on epidemiological status), is considered. Rigorous qualitative analysis of the model (both in the absence or presence of anti-HCV treatment) establishes, for the first time, the presence of the phenomenon of backward bifurcation in HCV transmission dynamics. The presence of the backward bifurcation phenomenon, which is characterized by the co-existence of asymptotically-stable HCV-free and HCV-present equilibria when the associated reproduction number of the model is less than unity, makes effective control of the disease difficult (since, in a backward bifurcation situation, the classical epidemiological requirement of having the associated reproduction number of the model to be less than unity, while necessary, is no longer sufficient for such effective control (or elimination)). Three routes (or causes) to such a dynamic phenomenon have been established. Furthermore, five main parameters that play a dominant role on the transmission dynamics of the disease have been identified. Numerical simulations of the model show that the re-infection of recovered individuals has marginal effect on the HCV burden (as measured in terms of the cumulative incidence and prevalence of the disease) in the IDU community.

Acknowledgements

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Professor Abba B. Gumel whose expertise, understanding, and patience added considerably to my graduate experience. His guidance, enthusiasm and encouragement helped me throughout the period of my research work and writing of the thesis. I would like to thank the Department of Mathematics, together with the Faculty of Graduate Studies and the Faculty of Science, of the University of Manitoba, for the financial support during my M.Sc. program. I am thankful to the graduate students in the department for their friendship and support. I am deeply grateful to members of our research group (Aliya Alsaleh, Farinaz Forouzannia, Ali Javame and Lindsay Simpson) for their kindness and support. Finally, I acknowledge the support and love of my family, especially my parents who inspired me in all steps of my life.

Dedication

To my parents, who shine into my life like the sun.

Contents

Abstract			i
A	Acknowledgements ii		
De	Dedication		
Co	onter	nts	vi
Li	st of	Tables	vii
Li	List of Figures xiii		
G	Glossary xiv		
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Control Strategies	3
	1.2	Literature Review	3
	1.3	Objectives of the Thesis	4
	1.4	Thesis Outline	5
2	Mat	thematical Preliminaries	7
	2.1	Equilibria of Autonomous Systems of Ordinary Differential Equations	
		(ODEs)	7
	2.2	Hartman-Grobman Theorem	8

	2.3 Stability Theory		
	2.4	Center Manifold Theory	10
	2.5	Bifurcation Theory	13
		2.5.1 Forward bifurcation	14
		2.5.2 Backward bifurcation	15
	2.6	Lyapunov Function Theory	17
	2.7	Comparison Theorem	18
	2.8	Next Generation Operator Method	20
2.9 Latin Hypercube Sampling and Partial Rank Correlation Coefficient		Latin Hypercube Sampling and Partial Rank Correlation Coefficients	22
3	нс	V Transmission Model with Differential Infectivity	24
	3.1	Introduction	24
	3.2	Model Formulation	25
		3.2.1 Basic properties	28
	3.3	Existence and Stability of Equilibria	31
		3.3.1 Local asymptotic stability of DFE	31
		3.3.2 Existence of EEP	32
		3.3.3 Existence of backward bifurcation	34
		3.3.4 Non-existence of backward bifurcation	34
	3.4	Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis	38
3.5 Numerical Simulations		Numerical Simulations	39
	3.6	Summary of the Chapter	40
4	Ana	alysis of HCV Model With Treatment	55
	4.1	Introduction	55
	4.2	Model Formulation	56
		4.2.1 Basic properties	59
	4.3	Existence and Asymptotic Stability of Equilibria	60

		4.3.1 Local asymptotic stability of DFE		60
		4.3.2 Existence of EEP		61
		4.3.3 Non-existence of backward bifurcation		65
	4.4	Assessment of Treatment Impact		68
	4.5	Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis		69
	4.6	Numerical Simulations		70
	4.7	Summary of the Chapter		71
1	A Pro	oof of Theorem 3.4		90
]	В Мо	odel Formulation of the Treatment Model (4.1)		95
(C Pro	oof of Theorem 4.5		99
]	D Proof of Theorem 4.6 10			
]	E Pro	oof of Non-existence of Backward Bifurcation in the Re	educed	l
	Mo	del (4.4)		107
]	F Pro	oof of Theorem 4.7		110
]	BIBLI	IOGRAPHY		113

List of Tables

3.1	Variables and parameters of the treatment-free model (3.2) [14] 42	
3.2	Baseline values and ranges of the parameters of the treatment-free	
	model (3.2)	43
3.3	PRCC values of the parameters of the treatment-free model (3.2) , with	
	\mathcal{R}_0 as the output. Parameter values and ranges used are as given in	
	Table 3.2.	43
4.1	Description of variables and parameters of the treatment model (4.1)	
	[14]	74
4.2	Baseline values and ranges of the parameters of the treatment model	
	(4.1)	75
4.3	PRCC values of the parameters of the treatment model (4.1) , with	
	\mathcal{R}_T as the output. Parameter values and ranges used are as given in	
	Table 4.2.	76

List of Figures

1.1	Estimated prevalence of HCV infection by WHO region [43]		
2.1	Forward bifurcation diagram, showing the infection rate (λ) as a func-		
	tion of the basic reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0)	14	
2.2	Backward bifurcation diagram, showing the co-existence of a stable		
	DFE and two branches of endemic equilibria (a stable and an unstable		
	branch)	15	
3.1	Schematic diagram of the treatment-free model (3.2) [14]. \ldots	44	
3.2	Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2) , showing the total num-		
	ber of infected individuals as a function of time, using various initial		
	conditions. Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2, with		
	$\beta = 1.48$ (so that, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 0.8036$)	44	
3.3	Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2) , showing the total num-		
	ber of infected individuals as a function of time, using various initial		
	conditions. Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2 (so that,		
	$\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.4914$)	45	

- 3.6 Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the cumulative number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters in Table 3.3 (β, ε, σ, μ and π): green curve (10% decrease in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters); blue curve (baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters); blue curve (baseline values); red curve (10% increase in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2.

- 3.10 Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the prevalence of HCV as a function of time, for various values of the re-infection parameter (ψ): green curve ($\psi = 0.0$), blue curve ($\psi = 0.5$) and red curve ($\psi = 1.0$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2. . . 52

- 4.4 Backward bifurcation diagram for the treatment model (4.1), showing the prevalence as a function of the control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T). Parameter values used are: $\Lambda = 40640, \ \beta^* = 3.324462329, \ \mu =$ $0.091, \ \sigma = 0.255, \ \delta = 0.0025, \ \varepsilon = 3.5, \ \psi = 0.70, \ \alpha = 3.3, \ \eta =$ $4.050, \ \kappa = 0.0827, \ \tau = 0.70, \ \phi = 0.36, \ \theta = 0.7603, \ \zeta = 0.902, \ \rho =$ $0.638, \ \gamma = 0.0225, \ \pi = 0.019, \ \upsilon = 0.89999, \ \omega = 0.89999 \ \chi_T =$ $0.35, \ \text{and} \ \chi_Q = 0.745 \ (\text{so that}, \ a = 0.0001180441877 > 0; \ \mathcal{R}_T = 1 \).$ 79
- 4.5 Distribution of PRCC values for the parameters of the treatment model (4.1). Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 4.2.
 80
- 4.6 Boxplots of the control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T) , as a function of the number of LHS runs (N_R) carried out, for the treatment model (4.1). Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 4.2. . . 81

4.8	Simulations of the treatment model (4.1) , showing the cumulative	
	number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for var-	
	ious values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters in Table 4.3	
	$(\beta, \epsilon, \sigma, \mu \text{ and } \pi)$: green curve (10% decrease in the baseline values	
	of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters); blue curve (baseline val-	
	ues); red curve (10% increase in the baseline values of the top-five	
	PRCC-ranked parameters). Parameter values used are as given in	
	Table 4.2.	83
4.9	Simulations of the treatment model (4.1) , showing the the prevalence	
	of HCV as a function of time, for various values of the top-five PRCC-	
	ranked parameters in Table 4.3 (β , ε , σ , μ and π): green curve (10%)	
	decrease in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked param-	
	eters); blue curve (baseline values); red curve (10% increase in the	
	baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters). Parameter	
	values used are as given in Table 4.2.	84
4.10	Simulations of the treatment model (4.1) , showing the cumulative	
	number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various	
	values of the re-infection parameter (ψ): green curve ($\psi = 0.0$), blue	
	curve ($\psi = 0.5$) and red curve ($\psi = 1.0$). Parameter values used are	
	as given in Table 4.2.	85
4.11	Simulations of the treatment model (4.1) , showing the prevalence of	
	total infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of	
	the re-infection parameter (ψ): green curve ($\psi = 0.0$), blue curve	
	$(\psi = 0.5)$ and red curve $(\psi = 1.0)$. Parameter values used are as	
	given in Table 4.2.	86

Glossary

Abbreviation	Meaning
DFE	Disease-free Equilibrium
EEP	Endemic Equilibrium Point
GAS	Globally-asymptotically Stable
HCV	Hepatitis C Virus
IDU	Injecting Drug User
LAS	Locally-asymptotically Stable
LHS	Latin Hypercube Sampling
ODE	Ordinary Differential Equation
PRCC	Partial Rank Correlation Coefficient

_

Chapter 1

Introduction

Hepatitis C, a blood-borne viral infectious disease caused by the single-strained RNA Hepatitis C virus (HCV) [2, 10], continues to pose major public health challenges globally. The World Health Organization (WHO) recently estimated the HCV prevalence to be between 2-3% (i.e., 130-170 million people currently live with HCV infection globally) [35, 43, 54, 56]. Countries in Africa and Asia have the highest reported prevalence rates, while industrialized countries in North America, Northern and Western Europe and Australia have lower prevalence (Germany (0.6%), Canada (0.8%), France (1.1%), and Australia (1.1%) have relatively low rates of HCV seroprevalence, with the USA (1.8%), Japan (1.5-2.3%), and Italy (2.2%) having slightly higher seroprevalence rates) [43, 54]. A global map of HCV, showing the geographic spread of the disease, is depicted in Figure 1.1.

The primary mode of HCV transmission is through blood contact [1, 56]. In particular, there are three main age-specific transmission patterns [1, 48]. The first is the 30-49 year age (middle age) group in developed countries (such as the United Kingdom and USA) [35, 48]. For this age group, injecting drug use (IDU) is the major cause of HCV infection (*via* needle and syringe-sharing; with over 80% of new cases attributed to injecting drugs use) [35, 48]. The second transmission pattern is for



Figure 1.1: Estimated prevalence of HCV infection by WHO region [43].

the elderly (as is the case in Japan [30, 39, 48, 53]). The third transmission pattern entails all age groups. For these two later categories, the causes (or risk factors) of HCV infection include unsafe therapeutic injections (performed by both healthcare professionals and non-professionals) and blood transfusion from unscreened donors. In addition to the aforementioned HCV risk factors, other factors, such as exposure to blood by the healthcare workers (mostly through contact with contaminated needles), mother-to-child transmission, sex with an infected partner, sex with multiple partners and other healthcare-related procedures, further contribute to HCV transmission [43].

The common symptoms of HCV infection include jaundice, dark urine, fatigue, nausea, vomiting, and abdominal pain [14, 28]. While the majority of patients with acute HCV will progress to chronic infection [2, 10, 14], about 25% of cases clear the virus and build natural immunity against re-infection [21]. The mean incubation period for acute HCV infection is 7 weeks [27]. Unfortunately, up to 90%

of HCV-infected individuals (acute or chronic) may not be aware of their infection status (i.e., they are asymptomatically-infected). Consequently, if undetected and untreated, about 7 - 18% of these (asymptomatically-infected) individuals will progress to develop liver disease, such as liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, within 20 years (and about 5%-7% of these patients may ultimately die) [2, 10, 14, 17, 28, 35, 54, 56].

1.1 Control Strategies

HCV-infected individuals can be treated using a combination therapy with *pegylated interferon* and *ribavirin* (having a response rate of 40% to 80%) [14, 19] (furthermore, several new anti-HCV drugs have recently been approved and/or are undergoing various stages of clinical trials [33]). Although there is currently no safe and effective vaccine for use against HCV infection in humans, efforts are underway to develop one [14, 17]. Another intervention strategy for controlling HCV transmission among IDUs is increasing the access to unused syringes and needles, aimed at reducing the frequency of sharing/unsafe injection needles (it should, however, be mentioned that although this approach may have positive effect on reducing HCV transmission, there is no evidence for substantial reductions in HCV prevalence) [36, 46, 49].

1.2 Literature Review

Several mathematical and statistical models have been developed and used to gain insight into the transmission dynamics of HCV in an IDU population [8, 9, 31, 35, 45, 51, 52]. Corson *et al.* [9] developed a deterministic compartmental mathematical model for the spread of HCV in an IDU population that has been separated into two groups (naive and experienced) based on the time since the onset of injection (and includes measures that allow for the prevention of HCV infection). Sutton *et al.* [45] used statistical modelling to estimate the force of infection of HCV and hepatitis B virus in England and Wales (using saliva sample of IDUs) for 1998-2003.

Vickerman *et al.* [51] used a deterministic model to simulate the transmission of HCV in IDUs in London, England and assessed the impact of intervention measures that reduced string and needle sharing in some of the targeted IDU populations. Elbasha [14] introduced the effect of the re-infection of recovered chronically-infected individuals (and associated heterogeneity between re-infected individuals and primary infected individuals) on HCV transmission dynamics *via* the use of a deterministic model. Furthermore, Elbasha [14] provided a rigorous qualitative analysis of a special case of the model in [14] (where re-infected individuals behave in the same manner as primary infected individuals, with respect to disease infectivity, recovery, progression and treatment).

1.3 Objectives of the Thesis

The main purpose of this thesis is to gain qualitative insight into the effect of treatment on the transmission dynamics of HCV in an IDU population. To achieve this objective, the treatment model developed in [14] will be considered (and fully analysed, unlike the special case considered in [14]). Furthermore, the effect of uncertainties on the associated parameters of the model (on the overall simulation results obtained) will be assessed using Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS) and Partial Ranked Correlation Coefficients (PRCC) [4, 34, 41]. Some of the specific questions to be addressed in the thesis include:

(1) What are the main qualitative features of a basic HCV transmission model (in the absence of treatment), which allows for the re-infection of recovered individuals? The aim here is to determine conditions for the existence and asymptotic stability of the associated equilibria of the basic model, as well as to characterize the types of bifurcation the model may undergo.

- (2) What is the qualitative impact of the use of anti-HCV drugs in HCV transmission dynamics? In particular, considering the fact that a few active IDUs are treated [36], does the use of anti-HCV treatment in the IDU population offer considerable effect on HCV prevalence in the population?
- (3) What is the qualitative (and public health) impact of the heterogeneity between primary infection and re-infection (of recovered individuals) in HCV transmission dynamics? In particular, does the resulting model (which allows for such a heterogeneity) exhibit the phenomenon of backward bifurcation [24, 25, 38, 40, 42]? If yes, what are the main drivers (causes) of this dynamic behaviour?
- (4) What is the qualitative, and quantitative, impact of the effectiveness levels of an anti-HCV treatment strategy implemented within the IDU population?

Since the models to be considered in this thesis monitor human populations, all their associated parameters are assumed to be non-negative.

1.4 Thesis Outline

The thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 1 covers the introductory epidemiological aspects of HCV transmission dynamics. The basic mathematical concepts relevant to the thesis are reviewed in Chapter 2. A basic treatment-free model for HCV transmission dynamics in an IDU population is considered, and rigorously analysed, in Chapter 3. The basic model is extended, in Chapter 4, to incorporate the effect of anti-viral drug treatment. The resulting treatment model is also rigorously analysed. Uncertainty and sensitivity analyses of both treatment-free and treatment models

are carried out in Chapters 3 and 4, respectively. Numerical simulation results are also presented.

Chapter 2

Mathematical Preliminaries

This chapter introduces some of the basic mathematical definitions, theories and methodologies relevant to the thesis.

2.1 Equilibria of Autonomous Systems of Ordinary Differential Equations (ODEs)

It should be mentioned that, in this thesis, only *autonomous* systems of ODEs, given by (where a dot represents differentiation with respect to time t)

$$\dot{x} = f(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{2.1}$$

are considered.

Definition 2.1. A point $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is called an equilibrium point of the autonomous system (2.1) if $f(\bar{x}) = 0$.

Theorem 2.1. (Fundamental Existence- Uniqueness Theorem [40]). Let E be an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n containing x_0 and assume that $f \in C^1(E)$. Then, there exists an

a > 0 such that the initial value problem:

$$\dot{x} = f(x), \quad x(0) = x_0,$$

has a unique solution x(t) on the interval [-a, a].

Definition 2.2. [40]. The Jacobian matrix of f at the equilibrium \bar{x} , denoted by $Df(\bar{x})$, is the matrix,

$$J(\bar{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_1}(\bar{x}) & \cdots & \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_n}(\bar{x}) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \frac{\partial f_n}{\partial x_1}(\bar{x}) & \cdots & \frac{\partial f_n}{\partial x_n}(\bar{x}) \end{pmatrix},$$

of partial derivatives of f evaluated at \bar{x} .

Definition 2.3. [40]. The linear system $\dot{x} = Ax$, with the matrix $A = Df(\bar{x})$, is called the linearization of the system (2.1) at the equilibrium \bar{x} .

Definition 2.4. [40]. An equilibrium point \bar{x} is called a hyperbolic equilibrium point of the autonomous system (2.1) if none of the eigenvalues of $Df(\bar{x})$ has zero real part.

Definition 2.5. [40]. An equilibrium point that is not hyperbolic is called nonhyperbolic.

2.2 Hartman-Grobman Theorem

Let,

$$\dot{x} = f(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$

$$\dot{y} = g(y), \quad y \in \mathbb{R}^n,$$
(2.2)

be two C^r $(r \ge 1)$ vector fields on \mathbb{R}^n .

Definition 2.6. [55]. The dynamics generated by the vector fields f and g of (2.2) are said to be locally C^k conjugate ($k \leq r$) if there exists a C^k diffeomorphism hwhich takes the orbits of the flow generated by f, $\phi(t, x)$, to the orbits of the flow generated by g, $\psi(t, y)$, preserving orientation and parameterization by time.

Theorem 2.2. (Hartman-Grobman Theorem [55]). Consider a $C^r(r \ge 1)$ vector field

$$\dot{x} = f(x), \quad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{2.3}$$

with domain of f to be a large open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Suppose also that (2.3) has equilibrium solutions which are hyperbolic. Consider the associated linear vector field

$$\dot{\xi} = Df(\bar{x})\xi, \quad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^n.$$
 (2.4)

Then the flow generated by (2.3) is C^0 conjugate to the flow generated by the linearized system (2.4) in a neighbourhood of the equilibrium point $x = \bar{x}$.

It should be noted that the Hartman-Grobman Theorem guarantees a homomorphism between the flow of the non-linear ODE system and that of its linearization. In general, near a hyperbolic equilibrium point \bar{x} , the non-linear system $\dot{x} = f(x)$ has the same qualitative structure as the linear system $\dot{x} = Ax$ with $A = Df(\bar{x})$.

2.3 Stability Theory

Definition 2.7. [55]. The equilibrium \bar{x} is said to be stable if given $\epsilon > 0$, there exists a $\delta = \delta(\epsilon) > 0$ such that, for any solution y(t) of (2.1) satisfying $|\bar{x} - y(t_0)| < \delta$, $|\bar{x} - y(t)| < \epsilon$ for $t > t_0, t_0 \in \mathbb{R}$.

Definition 2.8. [55]. The equilibrium \bar{x} is said to be asymptotically-stable if it is

stable and there exists a constant c > 0 such that, for any solution y(t) of (2.1) satisfying $|\bar{x} - y(t_0)| < c$, then $\lim_{t \to \infty} |\bar{x} - y(t)| = 0$.

Definition 2.9. [55]. An equilibrium solution which is not stable is said to be unstable.

Theorem 2.3. [55]. Suppose all the eigenvalues of $Df(\bar{x})$ have negative real parts. Then the equilibrium solution $x = \bar{x}$ of the system (2.1) is locally asymptotically stable, and unstable if at least one of the eigenvalues has positive real part.

2.4 Center Manifold Theory

Center Manifold theory is a mathematical technique for reducing the dimensionality of a given non-linear system near an equilibrium point. Consider the non-linear dynamical system (2.1). Let,

$$\dot{x} = Ax, \tag{2.5}$$

be the corresponding linearized system (with $A = Df(\bar{x})$) near a hyperbolic equilibrium point \bar{x} .

Definition 2.10. [55]. The stable, unstable, and center subspaces of the linear system (2.5) are defined by (where $A \in M_{nn}(\mathbb{R})$)

$$E^{s} = span \{u_{j}, v_{j}; a_{j} < 0\},$$

$$E^{u} = span \{u_{j}, v_{j}; a_{j} > 0\},$$

$$E^{c} = span \{u_{j}, v_{j}; a_{j} = 0\},$$

where $w_j = u_j \pm iv_j$ are eigenvectors corresponding to the eigenvalues $\lambda_j = a_j \pm ib_j$.

Remark 2.1. [55]. For a hyperbolic flow of a linear system, $\mathbb{R}^n = E^s \oplus E^c$. These subspaces become manifolds for nonlinear ODEs.

Theorem 2.4. (Stable Manifold Theory [40]). Let $f \in C^1(E)$ where E is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n containing the origin, and let ϕ_t be the flow of non-linear system (2.1). Suppose that f(0) = 0 and Df(0) has k eigenvalues with negative real parts, and q = n - k eigenvalues with positive real parts. Then, there exists a k-dimensional differentiable manifold S tangent to the stable subspace E^s of the linear system (2.5) at 0 such that for all $t \ge 0, \phi_t(S) \subset S$ and for all $x_0 \in S$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \phi_t(x_0) = 0,$$

and there exists a q-dimensional differentiable manifold U tangent to the unstable subspace E^u of the linear system (2.5) at 0 such that for all $t \ge 0, \phi_t(U) \subset U$ and for all $x_0 \in U$

$$\lim_{t \to -\infty} \phi_t(x_0) = 0.$$

Definition 2.11. [40]. Let ϕ_t be the flow of non-linear system (2.1). The global stable and unstable manifolds of (2.5) at 0, defined, respectively, by

$$W^s(0) = \bigcup_{t \le 0} \phi_t(S),$$

and,

$$W^u(0) = \bigcup_{t \ge 0} \phi_t(U),$$

are also, respectively, referred to as the global stable and unstable manifolds of the origin.

Theorem 2.5. [40]. Let $f \in C^r(E)$ where E is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n containing the origin and $r \geq 1$. Suppose that f(0) = 0 and that Df(0) has k eigenvalues with negative real parts, j eigenvalues with positive real parts, and m = n - k - ji eigenvalues with zero real parts. Then, there exists an m-dimensional center manifold $W^c(0)$ of class C^r tangent to center subspace E^c of (2.5) which is invariant under the flow ϕ_t of (2.1).

Lemma 2.1. [40]. The local center manifold of the system (2.1) at 0,

$$W_{loc}^c(0) = \{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^k \mid y = h(x) \quad \text{for} \quad |x| < \delta\},$$
(2.6)

for some $\delta > 0$, where $h \in C^r(N_{\delta}(0))$, h(0) = 0 and Dh(0) = 0 since $W^c(0)$ is tangent to the center subspace

$$E^c = \{ (x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^k \mid y = 0 \},\$$

at the origin.

Theorem 2.6. (Center Manifold Theory [40]). Let $f \in C^r(E)$ where E is an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n containing the origin and $r \ge 1$. Suppose that f(0) = 0 and that Df(0)has m eigenvalues with zero real parts and k eigenvalues with negative real parts, where m + k = n. The system (2.1) then can be written in diagonal form

$$\dot{x} = Cx + F(x, y),$$

$$\dot{y} = Py + G(x, y),$$

where $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^m \times \mathbb{R}^k$, C is a square matrix with m eigenvalues having zero real parts, P is a square matrix with k eigenvalues with negative real parts, and F(0) =G(0) = 0, DF(0) = DG(0) = 0; furthermore, there exists a $\delta > 0$ and a function $h \in C^r(N_{\delta}(0))$ that defines the local center manifold (2.6) and satisfies

$$Dh(x)[Cx + F(x, h(x))] - Ph(x) - G(x, h(x)) = 0$$

for $|x| < \delta$; and the flow on the center manifold $W^{c}(0)$ is defined by the system of

$$\dot{x} = Cx + F(x, h(x))$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^m$ with $|x| < \delta$.

Theorems 2.5 and 2.6 can be used to determine the flow near non-hyperbolic equilibrium points [5, 40].

2.5 Bifurcation Theory

Real-life systems arising in the natural and engineering sciences typically involve parameters which appear in their governing system of equations. As these parameters are varied, changes may occur in the qualitative structures of the solutions of the system of equations (modelling the real-life phenomenon) for certain parameter values. These changes are called *bifurcations* [26]. The parameter values where bifurcations occur are called *bifurcation* values (or *bifurcation points*). A formal definition of bifurcation at a point is given below.

Definition 2.12. [55]. Let

$$\dot{x} = f(x,\mu), \ x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \ \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \tag{2.7}$$

be a one-parameter family of one-dimensional ODEs. An equilibrium solution of (2.7) given by $(x, \mu) = (0, 0)$ is said to undergo bifurcation at $\mu = 0$ if the flow for μ near zero and x near zero is not qualitatively the same as the flow near x = 0 at $\mu = 0$.

There are numerous types of bifurcations, including saddle-node, forward (transcritical), pitchfork, Hopf, and backward bifurcation [24, 25, 38, 40, 42]. Two of these bifurcations (forward and backward) are relevant to the thesis, and are briefly discussed below.

2.5.1 Forward bifurcation

The dynamics of disease transmission models is often characterized by the reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0), a threshold quantity which measures the average number of new cases generated by a typical infected individual when introduced into a completelysusceptible population [3, 12, 25]. Typically, when \mathcal{R}_0 is less than unity, a small stream of infected individuals will not generate large outbreaks (and the disease dies out in time). In such a case, the disease-free equilibrium (DFE) of the model is asymptotically-stable. On the other hand, the disease persists in the population if \mathcal{R}_0 exceeds unity (where, in this case, an asymptotically-stable endemic equilibrium point (EEP) exists [3, 25]). This phenomenon, where the DFE and an EEP of a model exchange their stability at $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1$, is known as *forward bifurcation* [22, 25, 42, 57]. Figure 2.1 depicts a forward bifurcation diagram.



Figure 2.1: Forward bifurcation diagram, showing the infection rate (λ) as a function of the basic reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0) .

2.5.2 Backward bifurcation

In general, for models that exhibit forward bifurcation, the requirement $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ is necessary and sufficient for effective community-wide control (or elimination) of the disease being modelled. However, it has been observed in some other modelling studies, that although $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ is necessary for effective disease control (or elimination), the condition may not be sufficient. This is owing to a dynamic phenomenon known as *backward bifurcation* [24, 25, 38, 40, 42], where two stable attractors (typically the DFE and an asymptotically-stable EEP) of the model co-exist when $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$. The public health implication of backward bifurcation is that disease control (or elimination), when $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$, is dependent on the initial sizes of the sub-populations of the model. Thus, the presence of backward bifurcation in the transmission dynamics of a disease in a population makes its effective community-wide control difficult. Figure 2.2 depicts a backward bifurcation diagram.



Figure 2.2: Backward bifurcation diagram, showing the co-existence of a stable DFE and two branches of endemic equilibria (a stable and an unstable branch).

The following theorem will be used to explore the possibility of the presence of

backward bifurcation in the models to be considered in Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis.

Theorem 2.7. [6, 13, 50]. Consider the following general system of ordinary differential equations with a parameter ϕ

$$\frac{dx}{dt} = f(x,\phi), f: \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^n \quad and \quad f \in \mathbb{C}^2 \left(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}\right),$$
(2.8)

where 0 is an equilibrium point of the system (that is, $f(0, \phi) \equiv 0$ for all ϕ) and assume

- A.1) $A = D_x f(0,0) = \left(\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial x_j}(0,0)\right)$ is the linearization matrix of the system (2.8) around the equilibrium 0 with ϕ evaluated at 0. Zero is a simple eigenvalue of A and other eigenvalues of A have negative real parts;
- A.2) Matrix A has a right eigenvector w and a left eigenvector v (each corresponding to the zero eigenvalue).
- Let f_k be the k-th component of f and

$$a = \sum_{k,i,j=1}^{n} v_k w_i w_j \frac{\partial^2 f_k}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} (0,0),$$

$$b = \sum_{k,i=1}^{n} v_k w_i \frac{\partial^2 f_k}{\partial x_i \partial \phi} (0,0).$$

Then the local dynamics of the system around the equilibrium point 0 is totally determined by the signs of a and b. Particularly, if a > 0 and b > 0, then a backward bifurcation occurs at $\phi = 0$.

2.6 Lyapunov Function Theory

Definition 2.13. [40]. A point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is called an ω -limit point of $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, denoted by $\omega(x)$, if there exists a sequence $\{t_i\}$ such that

$$\phi(t_i, x) \to x_0 \quad \text{as} \quad t_i \to \infty.$$

Definition 2.14. [40]. A point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ is called an α -limit point of $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, denoted by $\alpha(x)$, if there exists a sequence $\{t_i\}$ such that

$$\phi(t_i, x) \to x_0 \quad \text{as} \quad t_i \to -\infty.$$

Definition 2.15. [40]. The set of all ω -limit points of a flow is called the ω -limit set. Similarly, The set of all α -limit points of a flow is called the α -limit set.

Definition 2.16. [55]. Let $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ be a set. Then, S is said to be invariant under the flow generated by $\dot{x} = f(x)$ if for any $x_0 \in S$ we have $\phi(t, x_0) \in S$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$.

Lemma 2.2. [55]. A set $S \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is positively-invariant if for every $x_0 \in S$, $\phi(t, x_0) \in S$, $\forall t \ge 0$.

Definition 2.17. [55]. A function $V : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ is said to be positive-definite if:

- V(x) > 0 for all $x \neq 0$,
- V(x) = 0 if and only if x = 0.

Definition 2.18. [55]. Consider the system (2.1). Let, \bar{x} be an equilibrium solution of (2.1) and let $V : U \to \mathbb{R}$ be a C^1 function defined on some neighbourhood U of \bar{x} such that

- *i)* V is positive-definite,
- *ii)* $\dot{V}(x) \leq 0$ *in* $U \setminus \{\bar{x}\}$.

Corollary 2.1. [55]. Any function, V, that satisfies Conditions (i) and (ii) above is called a Lyapunov function.

Theorem 2.8. (LaSalle's Invariance Principle [24]). Consider the system (2.1). Let,

$$S = \{ x \in \bar{U} : \dot{V}(x) = 0 \}$$
(2.9)

and M be the largest positive invariant set of (2.1) in S. If V is a Lyapunov function on U and $\gamma^+(x_0)$ is a bounded orbit of (2.1) which lies in S, then the ω -limit set of $\gamma^+(x_0)$ belongs to M; that is, $x(t, x_0) \to M$ as $t \to \infty$.

Corollary 2.2. If $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$ and $\dot{V} \leq 0$ on \mathbb{R}^n , then every solution of (2.1) is bounded and approaches the largest invariant set M of (2.1) in the set where $\dot{V} = 0$. In particular, if $M = \{0\}$, then the solution x = 0 is globally-asymptotically stable (GAS).

2.7 Comparison Theorem

Consider the autonomous system

$$\dot{x} = f(x), x \in \mathbb{R}^n, \tag{2.10}$$

where f is continuously-differentiable on an open subset $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. Let $\phi_t(x)$ denote the solution of the system (2.10) with initial value x.

Definition 2.19. [44]. f is said to be Type \mathcal{K} in \mathcal{D} if for each i, $f_i(a) < f_i(b)$ for any two points in \mathcal{D} satisfying $a \leq b$ and $a_i = b_i$.

The Type \mathcal{K} Condition can be identified from the sign structure of the associated Jacobian matrix of the system (2.10), as described above.

Definition 2.20. [44]. \mathcal{D} is *P*-convex if $tx + (1-t)y \in \mathcal{D}$ for all $t \in [0,1]$ whenever $x, y \in \mathcal{D}$ and x < y.

It is clear that if \mathcal{D} is a convex set, then it is also *p*-convex. Furthermore, if \mathcal{D} is a *p*-convex subset of \mathbb{R}^n and

$$\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial x_j} \ge 0, \quad i \neq j, \quad x \in \mathcal{D},$$

then f is of Type \mathcal{K} in \mathcal{D} .

Another approach for establishing the global asymptotic stability of equilibria of dynamical systems is by using the comparison theorem [44]. This entails comparing the solution of the non-linear system

$$\dot{x} = f(t, x), \tag{2.11}$$

with the solution of the differential inequality system,

$$\dot{z} \le f(t, z), \tag{2.12}$$

or,

$$\dot{y} \ge f(t, y),\tag{2.13}$$

on an interval. This method requires that the solution of the system (2.11) is unique, and that f is of Type \mathcal{K} .

Theorem 2.9. (Comparison Theorem [44]). Let f be continuous on $\mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{D}$ and of Type \mathcal{K} . Let x(t) be a solution of (2.11) defined on [a, b]. If z(t) is a continuous function on [a, b] satisfying (2.12) on (a, b) with $z(a) \leq x(a)$, then $z(t) \leq x(t)$ for all t in [a, b]. If y(t) is continuous on [a, b] satisfying (2.13) on (a, b) with $y(a) \geq x(a)$, then $y(t) \geq x(t)$, for all t in [a, b].

2.8 Next Generation Operator Method

The next generation operator method [11, 50] is popularly used in the mathematical biology literature to compute the reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0) of disease transmission models (and, subsequently, to establish the local asymptotic stability of the associated disease-free equilibrium of the model). The reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0) measures the average number of new infection generated by a typical infected individual introduced into a completely susceptible population [11, 50]. The formulation given in [50] is briefly described below.

Suppose the given disease transmission model, with non-negative initial conditions, can be written in terms of the following autonomous system:

$$\dot{x}_i = f(x) = F_i(x) - V_i(x), \quad i = 1, ..., n,$$
(2.14)

where $V_i = V_i^- - V_i^+$ and the functions satisfy the following axioms below. First of all, let

$$\{X_s = x \ge 0 \mid x_i = 0; \ i = 1, ..., m\},\$$

be the set of disease-free states (non-infected state variables) of the model, where $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)^t, x_i \ge 0$ represents the number of individuals in each compartment of the model. Furthermore, consider the following axioms [50]:

(A1) If $x \ge 0$, then $F_i, V_i^+, V_i^- \ge 0$ for i = 1, ..., m.

(A2) If $x_i = 0$, then $V_i^- = 0$. In particular, if $x \in X_s$ then $V_i^- = 0$ for i = 1, ..., m.

- (A3) $F_i = 0$ if i > m.
- (A4) If $x \in X_s$, then $F_i(x) = 0$ and $V_i^+(x) = 0$ for i = 1, ..., m.

(A5) If F(x) is set to zero, then all eigenvalues of $D(f(x_0))$ have negative real parts.

In the formulation above, $F_i(x)$ represents the rate of appearance of new infections in compartment i, $V_i^+(x)$ represents the rate of transfer of individuals into compartment i. It is assumed that these functions are at least twice continuously-differentiable in each variable [50].

Definition 2.21. [44] (M-Matrix). An $n \times n$ matrix A is an M-matrix if and only if every of off-diagonal entries of A is non-positive and the diagonal entries are all positive.

Lemma 2.3. (van den Driessche and Watmough [50]). If \bar{x} is a DFE of (2.14) and $f_i(x)$ satisfy (A1) – (A5), then the derivative $DF(\bar{x})$ and $DV(\bar{x})$ are partitioned as

$$DF(\bar{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} F & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, DV(\bar{x}) = \begin{pmatrix} V & 0 \\ J_3 & J_4 \end{pmatrix},$$

where F and V are the $m \times m$ matrices defined by,

$$F = \left[\frac{\partial F_i}{\partial x_j}(\bar{x})\right] \quad and \quad V = \left[\frac{\partial V_i}{\partial x_j}(\bar{x})\right] \quad with \quad 1 \le i, j \le m$$

Furthermore, F is non-negative, V is non-singular M-matrix and J_3 and J_4 are matrices associated with the transition terms of the model, and all eigenvalues of J_4 have positive real parts.

Theorem 2.10. (van den Driessche and Watmough [50]). Consider the disease transmission model given by (2.14) with f(x) satisfying axioms (A1)-(A5). If \bar{x} is a DFE of the model, then \bar{x} is LAS if $\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho(FV^{-1}) < 1$ (where ρ is the spectral radius), but unstable if $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$.
2.9 Latin Hypercube Sampling and Partial Rank Correlation Coefficients

Realistic disease transmission models often involve a large number of parameters (biological, demographic etc.). Consequently, uncertainties in the precise values of these parameters generally exist. The effect of such uncertainties on the numerical simulation results of the associated disease transmission model is often accounted for using an appropriate sampling technique, such as Latin Hyperbolic Sampling (LHS) [4, 41]. Furthermore, the sensitivity of each of these parameters (to a specified response/output function) can be accounted for using Partial Rank Correlation coefficients (PRCC). These methods are briefly described below.

Let X_1, \ldots, X_d be input parameter values that are randomly chosen from a specified sample space (i.e., they are random variables). Furthermore, appropriate probability distribution functions (PDFs) [4, 37, 41] for each of the these parameters are chosen (based on the biology and/or epidemiology of the disease being modelled). Any specified PDF describes the range of possible values and the probability of occurrence of any specific value.

Definition 2.22. [37]. Latin Hypercube Sampling (LHS) is a stratified sampling method for sampling the input parameter values. Using stratified sampling, the sample space S (possible range of each parameter) of X_i are partitioned into N disjoint strata of equal marginal probability 1/N. LHS ensures us that all portions of sample space are sampled, and each of the input variables has all portions of its distribution represented by input parameter values.

Definition 2.23. [4, 41]. Uncertainty Analysis technique is used to investigate the uncertainty in the model output variable(s) that is generated from uncertainty in estimating the input parameter values.

Definition 2.24. [4, 41]. Sensitivity analysis follows uncertainty analysis to identify

critical inputs (parameters and initial conditions) of a model and quantify how input uncertainty impacts model outcome(s).

Definition 2.25. [4]. Partial Rank Correlation Coefficient (PRCC) can be used to evaluate the statistical relationships between each input parameter and each outcome variable, while keeping all of the other input parameters constant at their expected value.

PRCC can only be used to assess the sensitivity of outcome variables that are monotonically related to the input parameters [4].

A PRCC between an input parameter X_j , and an output variable Y, can be calculated using the formula [4, 34]:

$$r_{X_jY} = \frac{Cov(X_j, Y)}{\sqrt{Var(X_j)Var(Y)}} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^N (X_{ij} - \bar{X})(Y_i - \bar{Y})}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^N (X_{ij} - \bar{X})^2 \sum_{i=1}^N (Y_i - \bar{Y})^2}},$$
(2.15)

where, $\operatorname{Cov}(X_j, Y)$ represents the covariance between X_j and Y, while $\operatorname{Var}(X_j)$ and $\operatorname{Var}(Y)$ are the variance of X_j and Y, respectively (the quantities \overline{X} and \overline{Y} are the respective sample means).

It is worth mentioning that PRCC always varies between -1 and +1. The sign of PRCC indicates the specific qualitative relationship between input and output variables. Furthermore, the magnitude of the PRCC indicates the importance of the uncertainty in estimating the value of the input variable due to the imprecision in predicting the value of the outcome variable [4, 41]. The relative importance of the input variables can be directly evaluated by comparing the PRCC values [4, 41].

Chapter 3

HCV Transmission Model with Differential Infectivity

3.1 Introduction

As stated in Chapter 1, a combination therapy with *pegylated interferon* and *ribavirin* are known to be quite effective against HCV infection [35]. Although the prevailing opinion among public health and medical practitioners in the US and UK, prior to 2002, was against treating active IDUs [35], IDUs are now not excluded from receiving anti-HCV treatment (owing to the increasing evidence showing that IDUs exhibit a similar response to anti-HCV treatment with non-IDUs [36]). Nevertheless, despite this fact, and the high number of IDUs infected, very few active IDUs have ever been treated [35]. Therefore, it is worthwhile to study the transmission dynamics of HCV among IDUs in both scenarios (with or without treatment of IDUs).

The aim of this chapter is to formulate a basic model for HCV spread in an IDU population in the absence of treatment (the case with treatment is studied in Chapter 4). The resulting treatment-free deterministic model, which allows for the re-infection of recovered individuals and loss of infection-acquired immunity (so that

re-infected individuals can revert to acute and chronic re-infection stages), will be rigorously analysed. Another notable feature of this model is that primary (newly)infected individuals are assumed to behave different (*vis-a-vis* the infectiousness, recovery and progression of the disease) in comparison to re-infected individuals [14]. The public health impact of this (transmission) heterogeneity (between primaryinfected and re-infected individuals) will be qualitatively analysed.

3.2 Model Formulation

The HCV transmission model to be considered in this study, which is a special case of the model given in [14], is based on splitting the total IDU population at time t, denoted by $N_{wt}(t)$, into the mutually-exclusive compartments of susceptible (S(t)), acutely-infected (I(t)), chronically-infected (P(t)), recovered with partial immunity (R(t)), acutely re-infected (V(t)) and chronically re-infected (W(t)) individuals, so that

$$N_{wt}(t) = S(t) + I(t) + P(t) + R(t) + V(t) + W(t).$$

The population of susceptible individuals (S) is increased by the recruitment of the new IDU individuals into the IDU population (at a rate Λ). It is further increased by the loss of infection-acquired immunity of recovered individuals (at a *per capita* rate, γ). It is decreased by infection, following effective contacts with infected individuals, at a rate λ_{wt} , given by

$$\lambda_{wt} = \frac{\beta (I + \pi P + vV + \omega \pi W)}{N_{wt}}.$$
(3.1)

In (3.1), β is the effective contact rate, π , v and ω are modification parameters accounting for the relative infectiousness of chronically-infected, acutely-re-infected and chronically-re-infected individuals, respectively (in comparison to acutely-infected individuals). This population is further decreased by natural death (at a rate μ ; this rate is assumed, for mathematical convenience, to be the same for each of the epidemiological compartments). Thus,

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \Lambda + \gamma R - \lambda_{wt} S - \mu S.$$

The population of acutely-infected individuals (I) is increased by the infection of susceptible individuals (at the rate λ_{wt}). It is decreased by recovery (at a rate σ), progression to chronic stage (at a rate ε) and natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dI}{dt} = \lambda_{wt}S - (\sigma + \varepsilon + \mu)I.$$

The population of chronically-infected individuals (P) is generated at the rate ε . It is decreased by recovery (at a rate δ) and natural death. Hence,

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = \varepsilon I - (\delta + \mu)P.$$

The population of recovered individuals (R) is generated by recovery of acutelyinfected individuals (at the rate σ), chronically-infected individuals (at the rate δ), acutely-re-infected individuals (at a rate $\alpha\sigma$, where $\alpha > 1$ is the modification parameter that accounts for the assumption that acutely-re-infected individuals recover at a faster rate in comparison to acutely-infected individuals), and chronically-re-infected individuals (at a rate $\eta\delta$ where $\eta > 1$ is the modification parameter that accounts for the assumption that chronically-re-infected individuals recover at a faster rate in comparison to chronically-re-infected individuals recover at a faster rate in comparison to chronically-infected individuals) [14]. This population is decreased by infection (at a reduced rate $\psi\lambda_{wt}$, where the modification parameter $0 < \psi < 1$ accounts for the assumption that recovered individuals acquire HCV infection at a rate lower than wholly-susceptible individuals). It is further decreased by the loss of infection-acquired immunity (at the rate γ) and natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dR}{dt} = \sigma I + \delta P + \alpha \sigma V + \eta \delta W - (\psi \lambda_{wt} + \gamma + \mu)R$$

The population of the acutely re-infected individuals is increased by the re-infection of recovered individuals at the rate $\psi \lambda_{wt}$. It is decreased by progression to the chronic re-infection stage (at a rate $\kappa \varepsilon$, where $0 < \kappa < 1$ is the modification parameter accounting for the assumption that acutely-re-infected individuals progress to the chronically-re-infection stage (W) at a slower rate in comparison to acutely-infected individuals), recovery (at the rate $\alpha \sigma$) and natural death. Hence,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \psi \lambda_{wt} R - (\alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon + \mu) V.$$

The population of the chronically-reinfected individuals is increased by the progression of acutely-reinfected individuals (at the rate $\kappa \varepsilon$). It diminishes by recovery (at the rate $\eta \delta$) and natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = \kappa \varepsilon V - (\eta \delta + \mu) W.$$

Based on the above assumptions and derivations, the treatment-free model for HCV transmission dynamics within an IDU population is given by the following deterministic system of non-linear differential equations [14]:

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \Lambda + \gamma R - \lambda_{wt} S - \mu S,$$

$$\frac{dI}{dt} = \lambda_{wt} S - (\sigma + \varepsilon + \mu) I,$$

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = \varepsilon I - (\delta + \mu) P,$$

$$\frac{dR}{dt} = \sigma I + \delta P + \alpha \sigma V + \eta \delta W - \psi \lambda_{wt} R - (\gamma + \mu) R,$$

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \psi \lambda_{wt} R - (\alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon + \mu) V,$$

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = \kappa \varepsilon V - (\eta \delta + \mu) W,$$
(3.2)

where,

$$\lambda_{wt} = \frac{\beta (I + \pi P + \upsilon V + \omega \pi W)}{N_{wt}}.$$
(3.3)

It is worth noting that the treatment-free model (3.2) reduces to an SIR model in the absence of re-infection of recovered individuals ($\psi = 0$) and loss of infection-acquired immunity ($\gamma = 0$). Furthermore, it can be shown that the model (3.2) reduces to an SIS model if recovered individuals acquire HCV infection at the same rate as wholly-susceptible individuals ($\psi = 1$). A flow diagram of the model is depicted in Figure 3.1, and the associated variables and parameters are tabulated in Table 3.1. The treatment-free model (3.2) will now be analysed to gain insight into its qualitative features.

3.2.1 Basic properties

Theorem 3.1. Let the initial data for the treatment-free model (3.2) be S(0) > 0, I(0) > 0, P(0) > 0, R(0) > 0, V(0) > 0 and W(0) > 0. Then, the solutions

(S(t), I(t), P(t), R(t), V(t), W(t))

of the treatment-free model (3.2), with positive initial data, will remain positive for all time t > 0.

Proof. Let

$$t_1 = \sup \{t > 0 : S(t) > 0, I(t) > 0, P(t) > 0, R(t) > 0, V(t) > 0, W(t) > 0\} > 0.$$

It follows from the first equation of the model (3.2) that

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \Lambda - \lambda_{wt}S - \mu S + \gamma R \ge \Lambda - \lambda_{wt}S - \mu S,$$

which can be written as,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left\{S(t)\exp\left[\mu t + \int_0^t \lambda_{wt}(\tau)d\tau\right]\right\} \ge \Lambda\left\{\exp\left[\mu t + \int_0^t \lambda_{wt}(\tau)d\tau\right]\right\}.$$

Thus,

$$S(t_1)\exp\left[\mu t_1 + \int_0^{t_1} \lambda_{wt}(\tau)d\tau\right] - S(0) \ge \int_0^{t_1} \Lambda\left\{\exp\left[\mu y + \int_0^y \lambda_{wt}(\tau)d\tau\right]\right\}dy,$$

so that,

$$S(t_1) \ge S(0) \exp\left[-\mu t_1 - \int_0^{t_1} \lambda_{wt}(\tau) d\tau\right] + \left\{ \exp\left[-\mu t_1 - \int_0^{t_1} \lambda_{wt}(\tau) d\tau\right] \right\} \int_0^{t_1} \Lambda \left\{ \exp\left[\mu y + \int_0^y \lambda_{wt}(\tau) d\tau\right] \right\} dy > 0.$$

Similarly, it can be shown that $I(t) \ge 0$, $P(t) \ge 0$, $R(t) \ge 0$, $V(t) \ge 0$ and $W(t) \ge 0$ for all time t > 0. Hence, all solutions of the model (3.2) remain positive for all nonnegative initial conditions, as required. **Theorem 3.2.** The closed set

$$\mathcal{D}_{wt} = \left\{ (S, I, P, R, V, W) \in \mathbb{R}_+^6 : N_{wt} \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \right\}$$

is positively-invariant and attracts all positive solutions of the model (3.2).

Proof. Adding the equations of the treatment-free model (3.2) gives

$$\frac{dN_{wt}}{dt} = \Lambda - \mu N_{wt},\tag{3.4}$$

from which it is clear that $\frac{dN_{wt}}{dt}$ is negative if $N_{wt}(t) > \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$. It follows from the solution of Equation (3.4), given by

$$N_{wt}(t) = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} + \left[N_{wt}(0) - \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \right] e^{-\mu t},$$

that if $N_{wt}(0) < \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$, then $N_{wt}(t) \leq \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$ for all t > 0. That is, all orbits of the treatmentfree model (3.2) with initial conditions in \mathcal{D}_{wt} remain in \mathcal{D}_{wt} for all t > 0. Thus, the region \mathcal{D}_{wt} is positively-invariant. Furthermore, if $N_{wt}(0) > \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$, then either the solution enters \mathcal{D}_{wt} in finite time or $N_{wt}(t)$ approaches $\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$ as $t \to \infty$. Hence, the region \mathcal{D}_{wt} attracts all solutions in \mathbb{R}^6_+ .

Since the region \mathcal{D}_{wt} is positively-invariant, the unique solution of the treatment-free model (3.2) exists and depends continuously on the initial data of the model (hence, it is sufficient to study its asymptotic dynamics in the region \mathcal{D}_{wt} [25]).

3.3 Existence and Stability of Equilibria

3.3.1 Local asymptotic stability of DFE

The DFE of the treatment-free model (3.2), obtained by setting the right-hand side of the equations in the model to zero, is given by

$$\mathcal{E}_0^{wt} = (S^*, I^*, P^*, R^*, V^*, W^*) = \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0\right).$$
(3.5)

Using the next generation operator method [50], the matrices \mathcal{F}_{wt} (of the new infection terms) and \mathcal{H}_{wt} (of the transition terms) associated with the model (3.2) are given, respectively, by

where, $G_1 = \mu + \sigma + \varepsilon$, $G_2 = \mu + \delta$, $G_3 = \mu + \alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon$, and $G_4 = \mu + \eta \delta$. It follows, from Theorem 2 in [50], that the *basic reproduction number* of the treatment-free model (3.2), defined by $\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho_{wt}(\mathcal{F}_{wt}\mathcal{H}_{wt}^{-1})$ (where ρ_{wt} is the spectral radius of the next generation matrix $\mathcal{F}_{wt}\mathcal{H}_{wt}^{-1}$), is given by

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \frac{\beta}{\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma} \left(1 + \frac{\varepsilon \pi}{\delta + \mu} \right). \tag{3.6}$$

The result below follows from Theorem 2 of [50].

Theorem 3.3. The DFE, \mathcal{E}_0^{wt} , of the treatment-free model (3.2), given by (3.5), is locally-asymptotically stable (LAS) if $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$, and unstable if $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$.

The epidemiological implication of Theorem 3.3 is that HCV can be effectively controlled in the community (when $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$) if the initial sizes of the sub-populations of the model (3.2) are in the basin of attraction of the DFE. As stated in Chapter 2, the threshold quantity, \mathcal{R}_0 , represents the average number of secondary infections that one HCV-infected individual can generate if introduced into a completely-susceptible IDU population [50].

3.3.2 Existence of EEP

In this section, the possible existence of an endemic equilibrium (that is, an equilibrium of the treatment-free model (3.2) when the infected components are non-zero will be explored). Let,

$$\mathcal{E}_1^{wt} = (S^{**}, I^{**}, P^{**}, R^{**}, V^{**}, W^{**}), \qquad (3.7)$$

be an arbitrary endemic equilibrium of the treatment-free model (3.2), where S^{**} , I^{**} , P^{**} , R^{**} , V^{**} , and W^{**} are obtained from setting the right-hand-sides of the equations in the model (3.2) to zero, given by

$$S^{**} = \frac{\gamma R^{**} + \Lambda}{\lambda_{wt}^{**} + \mu}, \quad I^{**} = \frac{\lambda_{wt}^{**} S^{**}}{\sigma + \varepsilon + \mu}, \quad P^{**} = \frac{\varepsilon I^{**}}{\delta + \mu},$$

$$R^{**} = \frac{\sigma I^{**} + \delta P^{**} + \alpha \sigma V^{**} + \eta \delta W^{**}}{\mu + \gamma + \psi \lambda_{wt}^{**}},$$

$$V^{**} = \frac{\psi \lambda_{wt}^{**} R^{**}}{\alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon + \mu}, \quad W^{**} = \frac{\kappa \varepsilon V^{**}}{\eta \delta + \mu}.$$
(3.8)

Furthermore, let

$$\lambda_{wt}^{**} = \frac{\beta \mu (I^{**} + \pi P^{**} + vV^{**} + \pi \omega W^{**})}{\Lambda}, \qquad (3.9)$$

(where the total population, $N_{wt}(t)$, is now replaced by its limiting value, $N_{wt}^* = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$) be the force of infection of the treatment-free model 3.2 at an endemic steady-state. Substituting the equations in (3.8) into (3.9), and simplifying, gives the following quadratic equation (in terms of λ_{wt}^{**})

$$c_2(\lambda_{wt}^{**})^2 + c_1\lambda_{wt}^{**} + c_0 = 0, \qquad (3.10)$$

where,

$$c_{2} = \psi(\mu + \delta)(\mu + \delta\eta + \varepsilon)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon),$$

$$c_{1} = \mu\psi(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \varepsilon + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(1 - \mathcal{R}_{0}) \qquad (3.11)$$

$$+(\mu + \delta)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) \{(\mu + \alpha\sigma + \kappa\varepsilon)(\mu + \eta\delta) - \beta\psi [\upsilon(\mu + \eta\delta) + \omega\pi\kappa\varepsilon]\},$$

$$c_{0} = (\gamma + \mu)(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(\varepsilon + \mu + \alpha\sigma) (1 - \mathcal{R}_{0}).$$

The components of the endemic equilibrium are then obtained by solving for λ_{wt}^{**} from the quadratic equation (3.10), and substituting the positive values of λ_{wt}^{**} into the expressions in 3.8. Furthermore, it follows from (3.11) that the coefficient c_2 , of the quadratic (3.10), is always positive, and c_0 is positive (negative) if \mathcal{R}_0 is less (greater) than unity. Hence, it follows from (3.11) that the quadratic (3.10) has a unique positive equilibrium (an endemic equilibrium) whenever $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$. These results are summarized below.

Theorem 3.4. The treatment-free model (3.2) has:

(i) a unique endemic equilibrium if $c_0 < 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{R}_0 > 1$;

- (ii) a unique endemic equilibrium if $c_1 < 0$ and $c_0 = 0$ or $c_1^2 4c_0c_2 = 0$;
- (iii) two endemic equilibria if $c_0 > 0, c_1 < 0$ and $c_1^2 4c_0c_2 > 0$;

(iv) no endemic equilibrium otherwise.

Item (iii) of Theorem 3.4 suggests the possibility of backward bifurcation (see, for instance, [7, 15, 18, 22, 25, 38, 42, 57], and some of the references therein) in the treatment-free model (3.2). As discussed in Chapter 2, the phenomenon of backward

bifurcation is characterized by the co-existence of a stable DFE and a stable EEP when the associated reproduction number of the model (\mathcal{R}_0) is less than unity. The epidemiological consequence of backward bifurcation is that disease control (when $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$) is dependent on the initial sizes of the sub-populations of the model (see, for example, [42]). Hence, the presence of backward bifurcation in the transmission dynamics of a disease makes its effective control (or elimination) difficult. Consequently, it is instructive to explore the possibility of backward bifurcation in the treatment-free model (3.2). Before doing so, it is worth checking for the existence of an EEP of the model (3.2) when $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ (which is a signature for a backward bifurcation in disease transmission models [7, 15, 18, 22, 25, 38, 42, 57]). This is done below.

3.3.3 Existence of backward bifurcation

Theorem 3.5. The treatment-free model (3.2) undergoes a backward bifurcation at $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1$ whenever the Inequality (A.5), given in Appendix A, holds.

The proof of Theorem 3.5, based on using center manifold theory [5, 6, 13, 50], is given in Appendix A. A schematic description of the backward bifurcation phenomenon of the model (3.2) is depicted in Figure 3.4. It is worth stating that, to the author's knowledge, this is the first time the phenomenon of backward bifurcation has been established in the transmission dynamics of HCV in a population.

3.3.4 Non-existence of backward bifurcation

First of all, it should be mentioned that setting the re-infection parameter ψ , to zero reduces the treatment-free model (3.2) to an SIRS model, which is known not to undergo backward bifurcation [22]. That is, as in the case of other disease, such as TB [22], the re-infection of recovered individuals causes backward bifurcation in HCV transmission dynamics.

Case (i) Effect of relative rate of progression of acute re-infected individuals (κ).

Consider the treatment-free model (3.2) for the case when acutely-re-infected individuals (V) progress to chronic re-infection stage (W) at the same rate as acutelyinfected (I) individuals (i.e., $\kappa = 1$). For this case, the coefficients c_0 , c_1 and c_2 , of the quadratic (3.10), reduce to:

$$c_{2} = \psi(\mu + \delta)(\mu + \delta\eta + \varepsilon)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon),$$

$$c_{1} = \mu\psi(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \varepsilon + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(1 - \mathcal{R}_{0}) \qquad (3.12)$$

$$+(\mu + \delta)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) \{(\mu + \alpha\sigma + \varepsilon)(\mu + \eta\delta) - \beta\psi [\upsilon(\mu + \eta\delta) + \omega\pi\varepsilon]\},$$

$$c_{0} = (\gamma + \mu)(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(\varepsilon + \mu + \alpha\sigma) (1 - \mathcal{R}_{0}),$$

from which the result below follows.

Theorem 3.6. Consider the treatment-free model (3.2) with $\kappa = 1$. The model has a unique positive equilibrium if $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$, and no positive endemic equilibrium otherwise.

Proof. It is clear from (3.12) that $c_2 > 0$ and $c_0 \ge 0$ if $\mathcal{R}_0 \le 1$. Furthermore, it can be shown that (since $\psi \le 1$, $\psi \le 1$ and $\omega \le 1$)

$$c_{1} = \mu\psi(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \varepsilon + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(1 - \mathcal{R}_{0})$$

$$+ (\mu + \delta)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) \left\{ (\mu + \alpha\sigma + \kappa\varepsilon)(\mu + \eta\delta) - \beta\psi \left[\upsilon(\mu + \eta\delta) + \omega\pi\kappa\varepsilon \right] \right\},$$

$$> \mu\psi(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \varepsilon + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(1 - \mathcal{R}_{0})$$

$$+ (\mu + \delta)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) \left\{ (\mu + \alpha\sigma + \kappa\varepsilon)(\mu + \eta\delta) - \beta \left[(\mu + \eta\delta) + \pi\kappa\varepsilon \right] \right\}.$$
(3.13)

Hence, it follows from the inequality $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ that $\beta < \frac{(\mu+\sigma+\varepsilon)(\mu+\delta)}{\pi\varepsilon+\mu+\delta}$. Thus, the coefficient c_1 can be re-written as

$$c_{1} > \mu\psi(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \varepsilon + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(1 - \mathcal{R}_{0}) + (\mu + \delta)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)$$

$$\left\{ (\mu + \alpha\sigma + \kappa\varepsilon)(\mu + \eta\delta) - \frac{(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)(\mu + \delta)\left[(\mu + \eta\delta) + \pi\kappa\varepsilon\right]}{\pi\varepsilon + (\mu + \delta)} \right\}, \quad (3.14)$$

$$= \mu\psi(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \varepsilon + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(1 - \mathcal{R}_{0}) + (\mu + \delta)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)$$

$$\left\{ \frac{(\mu + \alpha\sigma + \kappa\varepsilon)(\mu + \eta\delta)[\pi\varepsilon + (\mu + \delta)] - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)(\mu + \delta)\left[(\mu + \eta\delta) + \pi\kappa\varepsilon\right]}{\pi\varepsilon + (\mu + \delta)} \right\},$$

$$= \mu\psi(\delta + \mu)(\delta\eta + \varepsilon + \mu)(\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma)(1 - \mathcal{R}_{0}) + (\mu + \delta)(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)M,$$

where,

$$M = \frac{M_1 + M_2}{\pi\varepsilon + \mu + \delta}$$

with,

$$M_1 = \pi \varepsilon [(\mu + \alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon)(\mu + \eta \delta) - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)(\mu + \delta)],$$
$$M_2 = (\mu + \delta)(\mu + \eta \delta)(\alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon - \sigma - \varepsilon).$$

The sign of coefficient c_1 can be deduced from (3.14) as follows. Since $\eta > 1$ and $\alpha > 1$, it follows that $(\mu + \alpha \sigma + \varepsilon) > (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)$, $(\mu + \eta \delta) > (\mu + \delta)$ and $(\alpha \sigma + \varepsilon) > (\sigma + \varepsilon)$. Consequently, if $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ and $\kappa = 1$, then $c_1 > 0$ (and the quadratic (3.10) will have no endemic equilibrium for this special case).

The above analysis (along with Theorem 3.6) reveals that the relative rate of progression of acute re-infected individuals to the chronic re-infection stage (κ) play a critical role in the existence of the phenomenon of backward bifurcation in the treatment-free model (3.2). In fact, setting $\kappa = 1$ in (3.11), and using the assump-

tions that $\eta \geq 1, \alpha \geq 1$ and $v \leq 1, \omega \leq 1$ and $\psi \leq 1$, it can be shown that the backward bifurcation coefficient (a), given by (A.3) in Appendix A, becomes negative (and, consequently, in line with Theorem 4.1 of [6], the treatment-free model (3.2) does not undergo backward bifurcation in this case). To do so, we just need to show that S_2 , in the expression for the backward bifurcation coefficient a (given by (A.3) in Appendix A) is positive (in which case, a < 0). This is shown below.

$$S_{2} = G_{3}G_{4} - \frac{G_{1}G_{2}\psi(\pi\varepsilon\kappa\omega + G_{4}\upsilon)}{(\pi\varepsilon + G_{2})} = \frac{G_{3}G_{4}(\pi\varepsilon + G_{2}) - G_{1}G_{2}\psi(\pi\varepsilon\kappa\omega + G_{4}\upsilon)}{(G_{2} + \pi\varepsilon)},$$

$$> \frac{G_{3}G_{4}(\pi\varepsilon + G_{2}) - G_{1}G_{2}(\pi\varepsilon\kappa + G_{4})}{(\pi\varepsilon + G_{2})},$$

$$= \frac{\pi\varepsilon(G_{3}G_{4} - G_{1}G_{2}) + G_{2}G_{4}(G_{3} - G_{1})}{(\pi\varepsilon + G_{2})} > 0,$$

(3.15)

since, assuming $\kappa = 1$, $G_3 = \mu + \alpha \sigma + \varepsilon > G_1 = \mu + \sigma + \varepsilon$ and $G_4 = \mu + \eta \delta > G_2 = \mu + \delta$ (so that, $G_3G_4 - G_1G_2 > 0$ and $G_3 - G_1 > 0$). Thus, it follows, based on Theorem 3.6 and Item (*iv*) of Theorem 4.1 in [6], that the treatment-free model (3.2) does not undergo backward bifurcation in this case (with $\kappa = 1$). Hence, this thesis shows, for the first time, that the relative rate of progression from acute re-infection to chronic re-infection stage (κ) induces the phenomenon of backward bifurcation in HCV transmission dynamics.

Case (ii) Effect of infectiousness of acute and chronic re-infected individuals (v, ω)

Consider, now, the special case of the treatment-free model (3.2) where acute and chronic re-infected individuals do not transmit HCV infection (i.e., $v = \omega = 0$). For this special case, it follows from (3.15) that $S_2 = G_3G_4 > 0$. Consequently, the backward bifurcation parameter, a (given by (A.3) in Appendix A), is negative (so that backward bifurcation does not occur in this case, in line with Theorem 2.7). It is worth emphasizing that, for this scenario ($v = \omega = 0$), backward bifurcation does not occur in the treatment-free model even in the presence of re-infection ($\psi \neq 0$). Hence, this thesis shows, for the first time, that disease transmission by acute and chronic re-infection individuals also induces the phenomenon of backward bifurcation in HCV transmission dynamics.

3.4 Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis

The treatment-free model (3.2) contains 14 parameters, and the effect of the uncertainties in the estimates of the parameter values used in the numerical simulations of the model (3.2) [4, 41] will be assessed using Latin Hypercube Sampling (as discussed in Chapter 2). The LHS method involves defining baseline values and ranges for each of the parameters of the model (as in Table 3.2), where each parameter is assumed to obey a uniform distribution [14], and carrying out multiple runs ($N_R = 1000$) of the sampled data for the response output (the basic reproduction threshold, \mathcal{R}_0 , in this case) [4, 41].

A boxplot of the basic reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0) of the treatment-free model (3.2), as a function of the number of LHS runs carried out, is depicted in Figure 3.5, showing a range of \mathcal{R}_0 from 1.49 to 1.52 (which is consistent with the range reported in [14]). Furthermore, partial rank correlation coefficients (PRCC) [29] are used to measure the sensitivity of the parameters of the model (with \mathcal{R}_0 as a response variable). It follows from Table 3.3 that the parameters that most affect the value of \mathcal{R}_0 (hence, drive the HCV transmission dynamics within the IDU population) are the effective contact rate (β), the rate of progression to chronic infection (ε), the rate of recovery from acute infection (σ), the death or retirement rate from the population (μ) and the relative infectivity of chronically-infected individuals (π). Thus, this study identifies the main parameters that play a dominant role in the dynamics of the disease within the IDU population.

The sensitivity of the aforementioned top-five PRCC-ranked parameters, on the cumulative incidence and prevalence of HCV, is further assessed by simulating the treatment-free model (3.2) for the case where the baseline values of these (top-five) parameters (given in Table 3.2) are increased or decreased by 10%. The results obtained, depicted in Figures 3.6 and 3.7, show that a 10% increase in the baseline values of these parameters leads to a corresponding increase in the cumulative incidence and prevalence of HCV in the population, respectively. However, a 10% decrease leads to a decrease in the cumulative incidence and prevalence of the disease during the first few years (about 10 years), and a marginal increase shortly thereafter. These simulations further confirm the sensitivities such uncertainties (of the input parameters) have on the simulation result (output/response) obtained, in line with the results tabulated in Table 3.3 and Figure 3.8.

3.5 Numerical Simulations

The treatment-free model (3.2) is further simulated, using the parameter values given in Table 3.2 (unless otherwise stated), to assess the impact of re-infection on the transmission dynamics of HCV among IDUs. The following initial data (relevant to an IDU population [14]) is used in the numerical simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2):

$$(S(0), I(0), P(0), R(0), V(0), W(0)) = (439000, 550, 350, 50, 30, 20).$$

Figure 3.9 shows the cumulative number of new HCV cases, as a function of time, for various values of the re-infection parameter (ψ), from which it is evident that re-infection has little or no effect on the cumulative incidence of HCV during the first few years (the effect is, however, noticeable after about 10 years). In other words, this study shows that re-infection has marginal effect on HCV burden (as measured in terms of cumulative number of new cases) in the community in the short-term. Similar results are obtained for the prevalence of HCV (Figure 3.10). Although the progression rate from acute-re-infection to the chronic-re-infection stage (κ) plays an important role on the dynamics of HCV transmission, its effect on the cumulative incidence and prevalence of the disease is marginal (as shown in Figures 3.11 and 3.12, respectively).

3.6 Summary of the Chapter

This chapter focuses on the rigorous analysis of the treatment-free model of the HCV transmission model presented by Elbasha [14] (where only a special case of the model was analysed), with the aim of exploring the role of differential infectiousness of the infected and re-infected individuals in the dynamics of HCV which is not analysed in [14]. By using centre manifold theory, it was shown, unlike in [14], that the model undergoes the phenomenon of backward bifurcation when the associated basic reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0) of the model is less than unity. This phenomenon is well-known to play a major role in the persistence or elimination of the disease [6]. In particular, in a backward bifurcation situation, disease control (when the associated basic reproduction number is less than unity) is dependent on the initial sizes of the sub-populations of the model. Hence, backward bifurcation makes effective disease control difficult. This thesis, arguably, represents the first time the phenomenon of backward bifurcation is established in the transmission dynamics of HCV.

The main result, derived from this chapter, is that two main cases where the backward bifurcation property of the HCV transmission dynamics can be removed are identified. The first is the absence of heterogeneity between primary infected and re-infected individuals with regard to infectivity. In other words, the model will not undergo backward bifurcation if acutely-re-infected individuals progress to chronically-re-infection stage in the same rate of the progression of the acutelyinfected individuals to the chronically-infection stage. Hence, this study shows that heterogeneity between primary infected individuals and re-infected individuals with regard to infectiousness can induce the phenomenon of backward bifurcation in the transmission dynamics of a disease (such as HCV). The second is that, in the presence of such heterogeneity, it is shown that the backward bifurcation phenomenon can be removed when acute and chronic re-infected individuals do not transmit infection (i.e., $v = \omega = 0$).

The treatment-free model (3.2) is shown to have a unique endemic equilibrium when the associated reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0) exceeds unity (numerical simulations show that HCV will persist in the population when such an equilibrium exists). Results in this chapter provide answers to Questions 1 and 3 raised in Section 1.3.

Further simulations show that the re-infection of recovered individuals has marginal effect on the disease burden (as measured in terms of HCV cumulative incidence and prevalence in the community). It is also shown that, despite the fact that the parameter κ , (for the variability of progression to chronic stage between acutely re-infected and acutely infected individuals) plays a crucial role in the existence of backward bi-furcation, it (κ) has only marginal effect on the cumulative incidence and prevalence of HCV in the IDU population.

Symbol Description

Variables

S(t)	Population of susceptible individuals
I(t)	Population of acutely-infected individuals
P(t)	Population of chronically-infected individuals
R(t)	Population of recovered individuals with partial immunity
V(t)	Population of acutely-reinfected individuals
W(t)	Population of chronically-reinfected individuals

Parameters

Λ	Recruitment rate
μ	Natural death rate
β	Contact rate
σ	Recovery rate from acute infection
δ	Recovery rate from chronic infection
ε	Rate of progression from acute to chronic infection
ψ	Relative susceptibility of recovered individuals
α	Relative rate of recovery from acute re-infection
η	Relative rate of recovery from chronic re-infection
κ	Relative rate of progression from acute re-infection to chronic re-infection
γ	Rate of waning immunity
π	Relative infectivity of chronically-infected individuals
v	Relative infectivity of acutely-re-infected individuals
ω	Relative infectivity of chronically-re-infected individuals

Table 3.1: Variables and parameters of the treatment-free model (3.2) [14].

Parameters	Baseline Values [14]	Ranges [14]
Λ	$39,600 \text{ year}^{-1}$	[35640, 43560]
μ	0.09 year^{-1}	[0.081, 0.099]
β	$2.68 \ year^{-1}$	[2.444, 2.948]
σ	$0.5 { m year}^{-1}$	[0.45, 0.55]
δ	0.002 year^{-1}	[0.0018, 0.0022]
ε	$1.5 { m year^{-1}}$	[1.35, 1.65]
ψ	0.5	[0.45, 0.55]
α	3.3	[2.97, 3.36]
η	3.3	[2.97, 3.36]
κ	1/3.3	[0.2727, 0.3333]
γ	$0.025 \ year^{-1}$	[0.0225, 0.0275]
π	0.01	[0.009, 0.011]
υ	1/6.5	[0.1386, 0.1694]
ω	1/6.5	[0.1386, 0.1694]

Table 3.2: Baseline values and ranges of the parameters of the treatment-free model (3.2).

Parameters	$\operatorname{PRCC}(\mathcal{R}_0)$
β	0.988565581
ε	-0.968324197
σ	-0.847998641
μ	-0.763220923
π	0.691031894
δ	-0.030469363
Λ	0.018299972
η	0.015971663
γ	0.028006153
κ	-0.023995766
v	-0.037000483
α	-0.007482013
ψ	-0.013614862
ω	-0.042066892

Table 3.3: PRCC values of the parameters of the treatment-free model (3.2), with \mathcal{R}_0 as the output. Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.1: Schematic diagram of the treatment-free model (3.2) [14].



Figure 3.2: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the total number of infected individuals as a function of time, using various initial conditions. Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2, with $\beta = 1.48$ (so that, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 0.8036$).



Figure 3.3: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the total number of infected individuals as a function of time, using various initial conditions. Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2 (so that, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.4914$).



Figure 3.4: Backward bifurcation diagram for the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the prevalence as a function of the basic reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0). Parameter values used are: $\Lambda = 40640$, $\beta^* = 3.324462329$, $\mu = 0.091$, $\sigma = 0.255$, $\delta = 0.0025$, $\varepsilon = 3.5$, $\psi = 0.70$, $\alpha = 3.3$, $\eta = 4.050$, $\kappa = 0.0827$, $\gamma = 0.0225$, $\pi = 0.019$, $\upsilon = 0.89999$ and $\omega = 0.89999$ (so that, a = 0.0001180441877 > 0; $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1$).



Figure 3.5: Boxplots of the basic reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_0) , as a function of the number of LHS runs (N_R) carried out, for the treatment-free model (3.2).



Figure 3.6: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the cumulative number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters in Table 3.3 (β , ε , σ , μ and π): green curve (10% decrease in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters); blue curve (baseline values); red curve (10% increase in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.7: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the prevalence of HCV as a function of time, for various values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters in Table 3.3 (β , ε , σ , μ and π): green curve (10% decrease in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters); blue curve (baseline values); red curve (10% increase in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.8: Distribution of PRCC values for the parameters of the treatment-free model (3.2). Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.9: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the cumulative number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the re-infection parameter (ψ): green curve ($\psi = 0.0$), blue curve ($\psi = 0.5$) and red curve ($\psi = 1.0$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.10: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the prevalence of HCV as a function of time, for various values of the re-infection parameter (ψ): green curve ($\psi = 0.0$), blue curve ($\psi = 0.5$) and red curve ($\psi = 1.0$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.11: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the cumulative number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the relative rate of progression from acute to chronic infection stage (κ): green curve ($\kappa = 1/3.3$), blue curve ($\kappa = 0.65$) and red curve ($\kappa = 1.0$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2.



Figure 3.12: Simulations of the treatment-free model (3.2), showing the prevalence of HCV as a function of time, for various values of the relative rate of progression from acute to chronic infection stage (κ): green curve ($\kappa = 1/3.3$), blue curve ($\kappa = 0.65$) and red curve ($\kappa = 1$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 3.2.

Chapter 4

Analysis of HCV Model With Treatment

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, the treatment model considered in Chapter 3 is extended to incorporate the effect of the use of anti-viral drug treatment (for chronically infected and re-infected IDUs) on the spread of HCV within an IDU population. As stated in Chapter 1, despite the fact that various effective drugs are currently being used to treat people infected by HCV, very few active IDUs are actually treated (less than 4% [36]). Furthermore, re-infection is one of the major challenges associated with the treatment of IDUs (since the currently available anti-HCV drugs only provide partial immunity against re-infection) [36]. However, recent results [36] (supported with the numerical simulations to be carried out in this chapter) suggest that despite the effect of re-infection, the low treatment rate of active (chronically infected and re-infected) IDUs can significantly reduce the burden of HCV in the IDU community.

Consequently, the aim of this chapter is to study the qualitative impact of treatment of chronically infected and re-infected individuals (especially for the scenario where heterogeneity between primary infection and re-infection exists) on the transmission dynamics of HCV in an IDU population.

4.2 Model Formulation

The HCV transmission model to be considered in this chapter is based on extending the treatment-free model (3.2) to include anti-HCV treatment. The model, developed in [14], is formulated by splitting the total IDU population at time t, denoted by N(t), into mutually-exclusive compartments of susceptible (S(t)), acutely-infected (I(t)), chronically-infected (P(t)), treated chronically infected (T(t)), recovered with partial immunity (R(t)), acutely re-infected (V(t)), untreated chronically re-infected (W(t)) and treated chronically re-infected (Q(t)) individuals, so that

$$N(t) = S(t) + I(t) + P(t) + R(t) + V(t) + W(t) + T(t) + Q(t).$$

The model is given by the following deterministic system of non-linear differential equations (denoted by treatment model) [14]

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dS}{dt} &= \Lambda + \gamma R - \lambda S - \mu S, \\ \frac{dI}{dt} &= \lambda S - (\sigma + \varepsilon + \mu) I, \\ \frac{dP}{dt} &= \varepsilon I + \rho T - (\delta + \tau + \mu) P, \end{aligned}$$
(4.1)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dR}{dt} &= \sigma I + \delta P + \alpha \sigma V + \eta \delta W + \theta T + \theta Q - \psi \lambda R - (\gamma + \mu) R, \\ \frac{dV}{dt} &= \psi \lambda R - (\alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon + \mu) V, \\ \frac{dW}{dt} &= \kappa \varepsilon V + \zeta Q - (\eta \delta + \phi + \mu) W, \\ \frac{dT}{dt} &= \tau P - (\rho + \theta + \mu) T, \\ \frac{dQ}{dt} &= \phi W - (\zeta + \theta + \mu) Q, \end{aligned}$$

where,

$$\lambda = \frac{\beta \left(I + \pi P + \upsilon V + \pi \omega W + \pi \chi_T T + \pi \chi_Q Q\right)}{N},\tag{4.2}$$

is the infection rate. A flow diagram of the model is given in Figure 4.1, and the associated variables and parameters are tabulated in Table 4.1. The detailed derivation of the equations of the treatment model (4.1) are given in Appendix B (it closely follows the formulation in [14]).

The HCV transmission model (4.1) extends the treatment-free model (3.2) by, inter alia,

- (a) adding the treatment of chronically-infected individuals (T(t));
- (b) adding the treatment of chronically-re-infected individuals (Q(t));
- (c) incorporating the effect of disease transmission by treated individuals.

It is worth stating that Elbasha [14] studied a special case of the HCV treatment model (4.1), where re-infection plays the same role as primary infection (i.e., the
model (4.1) with $\kappa = \alpha = \eta = \omega = \upsilon = 1$, $\chi_Q = \chi_T$, $\zeta = \rho$ and $\phi = \tau$), given by (the reduced model)

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dS}{dt} &= \Lambda - \lambda S - \mu S + \gamma R, \\ \frac{dI}{dt} &= \lambda S - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) I, \\ \frac{dP}{dt} &= \varepsilon I + \rho T - (\mu + \delta + \tau) P, \end{aligned}$$
(4.3)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dR}{dt} &= \sigma I + \delta P + \sigma V + \delta W + \theta T + \theta Q - \psi \lambda R - (\mu + \gamma) R, \\ \frac{dV}{dt} &= \psi \lambda R - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) V, \\ \frac{dW}{dt} &= \varepsilon V + \rho Q - (\mu + \delta + \tau) W, \\ \frac{dT}{dt} &= \tau P - (\mu + \rho + \theta) T, \\ \frac{dQ}{dt} &= \phi W - (\mu + \rho + \theta) Q, \end{aligned}$$

where, now,

$$\lambda = \frac{\beta(I + \pi P + V + \pi W + \pi \chi_T T + \pi \chi_T Q)}{N}.$$

The above simplifications, made in [14], allow for the change of variables, $\bar{I} = I + V$, $\bar{P} = W + P$, $\bar{T} = T + Q$ (and, for consistency, $\bar{R} = R$ and $\bar{S} = S$), so that the reduced model (4.3) can be re-written as [14]:

$$\frac{d\bar{S}}{dt} = \Lambda - \bar{\lambda}\bar{S} - \mu\bar{S} + \gamma\bar{R},$$

$$\frac{d\bar{I}}{dt} = \bar{\lambda}\bar{S} + \psi\bar{\lambda}\bar{R} - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)\bar{I},$$

$$\frac{d\bar{P}}{dt} = \varepsilon\bar{I} + \rho\bar{T} - (\mu + \delta + \tau)\bar{P},$$

$$\frac{d\bar{R}}{dt} = \sigma\bar{I} + \delta\bar{P} + \theta\bar{T} - \psi\bar{\lambda}\bar{R} - (\mu + \gamma)\bar{R},$$

$$\frac{d\bar{T}}{dt} = \tau\bar{P} - (\mu + \rho + \theta)\bar{T},$$
(4.4)

with,

$$\bar{\lambda} = \frac{\beta \left(\bar{I} + \pi \bar{P} + \pi \chi_T T \right)}{\bar{N}} \text{ and } \bar{N} = \bar{S} + \bar{I} + \bar{P} + \bar{R} + \bar{T}$$

It was shown in [14] that the DFE of the model (4.4) is globally-asymptotically stable whenever the associated reproduction number, given by,

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}}_c = \frac{\beta}{\varepsilon + \mu + \sigma} \left[1 + \frac{\pi \varepsilon (\theta + \mu + \rho + \tau \chi_T)}{(\delta + \mu)(\theta + \mu + \rho) + (\theta + \mu)\tau} \right],$$

is less than unity. It is further shown, for the special case of the treatment model (4.4) in the absence of re-infection ($\psi = 0$), that the unique endemic equilibrium of the reduced model (4.4) is globally asymptotically stable whenever it exists [14].

Unlike in [14], however, the full treatment model (4.1) will be rigorously analysed in this chapter (in particular, to determine whether or not it exhibits some dynamical features not seen in the reduced model (4.4), studied in [14]).

4.2.1 Basic properties

The following results can be proved using the approaches in Section 3.2.

Theorem 4.1. Let the initial data for the treatment model (4.1) be S(0) > 0, I(0) > 0

0, P(0) > 0, R(0) > 0, V(0) > 0, W(0) > 0, T(0) > 0 and Q > 0. Then, the solutions

$$(S(t), I(t), P(t), R(t), V(t), W(t), T(t), Q(t))$$

of the model (4.1), with positive initial data, will remain positive for all time t > 0.

Theorem 4.2. The closed set

$$\mathcal{D}_T = \left\{ (S, I, P, R, V, W, T, Q) \in \mathbb{R}^8_+ : N \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu} \right\}$$

is positively-invariant and attracts all positive solutions of the treatment model (4.1).

4.3 Existence and Asymptotic Stability of Equilibria

4.3.1 Local asymptotic stability of DFE

The DFE of the treatment model (4.1) is given by

$$\mathcal{E}_0^T = (S^*, I^*, P^*, R^*, V^*, W^*, T^*, Q^*) = \left(\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0\right).$$
(4.5)

Using the next generation operator method [50], as in Chapter 3, the matrices \mathcal{F}_T and \mathcal{H}_T , associated with the treatment model (4.1), are given, respectively, by

where, $K_1 = \mu + \sigma + \varepsilon$, $K_2 = \mu + \delta + \tau$, $K_3 = \mu + \alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon$, $K_4 = \mu + \eta \delta + \phi$, $K_5 = \mu + \rho + \theta$, and $K_6 = \mu + \zeta + \theta$. It follows, from Theorem 2 in [50], that the *control* reproduction number of the model (4.1), defined by $\mathcal{R}_T = \rho(\mathcal{F}_T \mathcal{H}_T^{-1})$, is given by (where $K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau = (\mu + \delta + \tau)(\mu + \theta) + \mu \rho + \delta \rho > 0$, so that $\mathcal{R}_T > 0$)

$$\mathcal{R}_T = \rho \left(\mathcal{F}_T \mathcal{H}_T^{-1} \right) = \frac{\beta \left(K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau + \pi \varepsilon K_5 + \chi_T \pi \varepsilon \tau \right)}{K_1 (K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau)}.$$
(4.6)

It should be mentioned that the expression for \mathcal{R}_T is the same as that of $\overline{\mathcal{R}}_c$ in [14]. The result below follows from Theorem 2 of [50].

Theorem 4.3. The DFE, \mathcal{E}_0^T , of the treatment model (4.1), given by (4.5), is LAS if $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$, and unstable if $\mathcal{R}_T > 1$.

4.3.2 Existence of EEP

As in Chapter 3, let

$$\mathcal{E}_1^T = (S^{**}, I^{**}, P^{**}, R^{**}, V^{**}, W^{**}, T^{**}, Q^{**}), \tag{4.7}$$

be an arbitrary endemic equilibrium of the treatment model (4.1). Furthermore, let

$$\lambda^{**} = \frac{\beta\mu(I^{**} + \pi P^{**} + \upsilon V^{**} + \pi\omega W^{**} + \pi\chi_T T^{**} + \pi\chi_Q Q^{**})}{\Lambda}, \qquad (4.8)$$

(where the total population, N(t), is now replaced by its limiting value, $N^* = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$) be the force of infection at steady-state.

Solving the equations of the treatment model (4.1) at the endemic steady-state gives:

$$S^{**} = \frac{\gamma R^{**} + \Lambda}{\lambda^{**} + \mu}, \quad I^{**} = \frac{\lambda^{**} S^{**}}{K_1}, \quad P^{**} = \frac{\varepsilon I^{**} + \rho T^{**}}{K_2},$$

$$R^{**} = \frac{\sigma I^{**} + \delta P^{**} + \alpha \sigma V^{**} + \eta \delta W^{**} + \theta T^{**} + \theta Q^{**}}{(\mu + \gamma + \psi \lambda^{**})},$$

$$V^{**} = \frac{\psi \lambda^{**} R^{**}}{K_3}, \quad W^{**} = \frac{\kappa \varepsilon V^{**} + \zeta Q^{**}}{K_4}, \quad T^{**} = \frac{\tau P^{**}}{K_5}, \quad Q^{**} = \frac{\phi W^{**}}{K_6}.$$
(4.9)

Substituting the expressions in (4.9) into (4.8) gives:

$$(B_1 + B_2 \lambda^{**})(B_3 + B_4 \lambda^{**}) = B_5 B_6 \lambda^{**}, \qquad (4.10)$$

where,

$$B_{1} = \gamma K_{3}(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau)(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)(\mu + \gamma)$$

$$B_{2} = \gamma (K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau)[K_{3}\psi(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi) - \psi(\alpha\sigma(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi) + K_{6}\eta\delta\kappa\varepsilon + \theta\phi\kappa\varepsilon)],$$

$$B_{3} = \mu\gamma K_{3}(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)[K_{1}(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau) - \beta(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau + \pi\varepsilon K_{5} + \chi\pi\varepsilon\tau),$$

$$B_{4} = \gamma K_{1}K_{3}(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau)(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi),$$

$$H_{3} = \gamma K_{3}(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau)(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)$$

$$+ \beta\mu\psi(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau)[\psi(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi) + \kappa\varepsilon\omega\pi K_{6} + \chi_{Q}\pi\phi\kappa\varepsilon],$$

$$B_{6} = \gamma K_{3}(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)[\sigma(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau) + \delta\varepsilon K_{5} + \theta\varepsilon\tau].$$

$$(4.11)$$

It follows that the non-zero (endemic) equilibria of the treatment model (4.1) satisfy the following polynomial (in terms of λ^{**}),

$$a_2(\lambda^{**})^2 + a_1\lambda^{**} + a_0 = 0, (4.12)$$

where,

$$a_{2} = \gamma^{2} K_{1} K_{3} A_{1} (K_{4} K_{6} - \zeta \phi) (K_{2} K_{5} - \rho \tau)^{2},$$

$$a_{1} = \mu \gamma^{2} K_{1} K_{3} A_{1} (K_{4} K_{6} - \zeta \phi) (K_{2} K_{5} - \rho \tau)^{2} (1 - \mathcal{R}_{T})$$

$$+ \gamma^{2} K_{3}^{2} K_{1} (\mu + \gamma) (K_{4} K_{6} - \zeta \phi)^{2} (K_{2} K_{5} - \rho \tau)^{2}$$

$$- A_{2} [\gamma K_{3} (K_{4} K_{6} - \zeta \phi) (\sigma (K_{2} K_{5} - \rho \tau) + \delta \varepsilon K_{5} + \theta \varepsilon \tau)],$$

$$a_{0} = \Lambda \gamma^{2} K_{1} K_{3}^{2} (\mu + \gamma) (1 - \mathcal{R}_{T}) (K_{4} K_{6} - \zeta \phi)^{2} (K_{2} K_{5} - \rho \tau)^{2},$$
(4.13)

with,

$$A_{1} = \psi(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)(\mu + \kappa\varepsilon) + K_{6}\psi\eta\delta\kappa\varepsilon + \psi\theta\phi\kappa\varepsilon, \qquad (4.14)$$
$$A_{2} = (K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau) \left\{\gamma K_{3}(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi) + \beta\mu \left[\upsilon\psi(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi) + \kappa\varepsilon\psi\omega\pi K_{6} + \chi\pi\phi\kappa\varepsilon\psi\right]\right\}.$$

The endemic equilibria of the treatment model (4.1) can then be obtained by solving for λ^{**} from (4.8), and substituting the positive values of λ^{**} into the steady-state expressions in (4.9). Furthermore, it follows from (4.13) that the coefficient a_2 , of the quadratic (4.12), is always positive (it should be recalled, from Section 3.1, that $K_4K_6 - \zeta\phi = (\mu + \eta\delta + \phi)(\mu + \theta) + \zeta(\mu + \eta\delta) > 0$ and $K_2K_5 - \rho\tau > 0$) and a_0 is positive (negative) if \mathcal{R}_T is less (greater) than unity. The quadratic has a unique endemic equilibrium whenever $\mathcal{R}_T > 1$. These results are summarized below.

Theorem 4.4. The treatment model (4.1) has:

(i) a unique endemic equilibrium if $a_0 < 0 \Leftrightarrow \mathcal{R}_T > 1$;

- (ii) a unique endemic equilibrium if $a_1 < 0$ and $a_0 = 0$ or $a_1^2 4a_0a_2 = 0$;
- (iii) two endemic equilibria if $a_0 > 0, a_1 < 0$ and $a_1^2 4a_0a_2 > 0$;
- (iv) no endemic equilibrium otherwise.

Here, too, Item (iii) of Theorem 4.4 suggests the possibility of the backward bifurcation in the model (4.1). The backward bifurcation phenomenon in the treatment model (4.1) is explored below.

Theorem 4.5. The treatment model (4.1) undergoes backward bifurcation at $\mathcal{R}_T = 1$ whenever the Inequality (C.5), given in Appendix C, holds.

The proof of Theorem 4.5 is given in Appendix C (and a schematic description of the backward bifurcation phenomenon of the treatment model (4.1) is depicted in

Figure 4.4). It should be recalled that this (backward bifurcation) phenomenon does not occur in the reduced model (4.4), considered in [14]. In other words, the treatment model (4.1) has at least one dynamical feature (backward bifurcation) that is not present in the reduced model (4.4). Thus, like in the case of the treatment-free model (3.2), it is instructive to explore the possible causes of the backward bifurcation phenomenon in the treatment model (4.1). This is done below.

4.3.3 Non-existence of backward bifurcation

Two main cases will be considered, as follows.

Case 1: Absence of re-infection of recovered individuals ($\psi = 0$)

Consider the treatment model (4.1) in the absence of re-infection (i.e., $\psi = 0$). Setting the re-infection parameter (ψ) to zero in the expression of the backward bifurcation coefficient, a, given by (C.3) in Appendix C (it should be recalled that $K_4K_6 - \zeta \phi > 0$ and $K_2K_5 - \rho \tau > 0$) shows that

$$a = \frac{-2\mu v_2 w_2^2 K_1}{\Lambda K_3 (K_4 K_6 - \zeta \phi) (K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau) (\mu + \gamma)} [K_3 (K_4 K_6 - \zeta \phi) (\mu + \gamma)$$
$$(K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau + \varepsilon K_5 + \tau \varepsilon) + K_3 (K_4 K_6 - \zeta \phi) F] < 0.$$
(4.15)

Thus, it follows from (4.15) and Appendix C (where the eigenvector $v_2 > 0$ and F > 0) that, in the absence of re-infection ($\psi = 0$), the bifurcation coefficient, a (given by (C.3)), is negative. Hence, based on the Item (iv) of Theorem 4.1 in [6], it can be concluded that the treatment model (4.1) dose not undergo backward bifurcation in the absence of re-infection. Hence, the re-infection of recovered individuals causes backward bifurcation in the treatment model (4.1). The reason that the treatment model (4.1) exhibits backward bifurcation, while the model (4.4) (considered in [14])

does not, is (clearly) the heterogeneity between primary infection and re-infection. In the model (4.4), re-infection and primary infection behave the same way (and, in such a case, re-infection does not cause backward bifurcation). To further confirm the absence of backward bifurcation for this special case, the following result is proved for the DFE of the model (4.1).

Theorem 4.6. The DFE (\mathcal{E}_0^T) of the treatment model (4.1), with $\psi = 0$, is GAS in \mathcal{D}_T whenever $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$.

The proof, based on using Comparison Theorem [32], is given in Appendix D. Figure 4.2 depicts the solutions profile of the model (4.1) generated for the case when $\psi = 0$ and $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$, using various initial conditions, showing the convergence to the DFE (in line with Theorem 4.6).

Case 2: Presence of re-infection $(\psi \neq 0)$.

Consider the treatment model (4.1) in the presence of re-infection of recovered individuals ($\psi \neq 0$). There are two cases to consider here, as follows:

(i) No heterogeneity between primary infection and re-infection.

For this case (with $\kappa = \alpha = \eta = \omega = v = 1$, $\chi_Q = \chi_T$, $\zeta = \rho$ and $\phi = \tau$), the treatment model (4.1) reduces to the model (4.4). Elbasha [14] proved the GAS property of the DFE of the model for this special case (ruling out the possibility of backward bifurcation in the model (4.4)). The result in [14] is further verified by applying the centre manifold theory on the model (4.4), as detailed in Appendix E (from which it is clear that the reduced model (4.4) does not undergo backward bifurcation). Thus, the analysis in Appendix E shows that the absence of the heterogeneity between re-infected and primary infected individuals removes the backward bifurcation property of the model (4.1), even in the presence of the re-infection of

recovered individuals.

(*ii*) Effect of infectivity of acute, chronic and treated re-infected individuals ($v \neq 0, \omega \neq 0, \chi_Q \neq 0$).

Consider the case of the treatment model (4.1) where acute, chronic and treated re-infected individuals do not transmit infection (i.e., $v = \omega = \chi_Q = 0$). For this case,

$$\hat{\lambda} = \lambda|_{v = \omega = \chi_Q = 0} = \frac{\beta(I + \pi P + \chi_T \pi T)}{N},$$

where, N = S + I + P + R + V + W + T + Q. Setting $v = \omega = \chi_Q = 0$ in the expression of the backward bifurcation coefficient, *a* (given by (C.3) in Appendix C), and simplifying, shows that

$$a = \frac{-2\mu v_2 w_2^2 K_1}{\Lambda K_3 (K_4 K_6 \zeta \phi) (K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau) (\mu + \gamma)} [K_3 (K_4 K_6 - \zeta \phi) (\mu + \gamma) (K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau + \varepsilon K_5 + \tau \varepsilon) + K_3 (K_4 K_6 - \zeta \phi) F] < 0.$$
(4.16)

Thus, it follows, from (4.16) and Appendix C, that disease transmission by reinfected individuals causes backward bifurcation in HCV transmission dynamics. The above results are summarized below.

- (a) The treatment model (4.1) does not undergo backward bifurcation in the absence of re-infection of recovered individuals ($\psi = 0$).
- (b) In the presence of re-infection of recovered individuals ($\psi \neq 0$), the phenomenon of backward bifurcation can be removed *via* any of the following scenarios:

- (i) the absence of heterogeneity between re-infected and primary infected individuals (i.e., $\kappa = \alpha = \eta = \omega = \upsilon = 1$, $\chi_Q = \chi_T$, $\zeta = \rho$, and $\phi = \tau$);
- (*ii*) if re-infected individuals do not transmit HCV infection (i.e., $v = \omega = \chi_Q = 0$).

Furthermore it is shown, in Item (*ii*) of Case (b) above, that if individuals in the re-infected classes (V, W, Q) are not able to transmit the infection, then the treatment model (4.1) does not undergo backward bifurcation even in the presence of re-infection ($\psi \neq 0$). This fact is further illustrated by proving the global asymptotic stability of the DFE of the treatment model (4.1) for this special case, as below.

Theorem 4.7. The DFE, \mathcal{E}_0^T , of the treatment model (4.1), with $\upsilon = \omega = \chi_Q = 0$, is GAS in \mathcal{D}_T whenever $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$.

The proof, based on using Comparison Theorem [32], is given in Appendix F. As in Chapter 3, the result given in Theorem 4.7 shows that HCV can be effectivelycontrolled (or eliminated) in the IDU population if the infectivity of re-infected individuals is negligible (or, for instance, cured IDUs change their behaviour, and cease being IDUs). Moreover, numerical simulations of the treatment model (4.1), for the case when $\mathcal{R}_T > 1$ (Figure 4.3), suggests that the associated unique endemic equilibrium (\mathcal{E}_1^T) is stable when it exists.

4.4 Assessment of Treatment Impact

Following Elbasha [14], the reproduction threshold (\mathcal{R}_T) is differentiated partially with respect to the treatment rate of chronically-infected individuals (τ) , giving

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{R}_T}{\partial \tau} = -\frac{\beta}{(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)} \frac{\pi \varepsilon (\mu + \rho + \theta) \Delta}{[(\mu + \delta)(\mu + \theta + \rho) + \tau(\mu + \theta)]^2},$$
(4.17)

where,

$$\triangle = (\mu + \theta) - \chi_T(\mu + \delta).$$

Thus, \mathcal{R}_T is a decreasing (increasing) function of τ whenever $\Delta > 0$ (< 0). Furthermore, $\frac{\partial \mathcal{R}_T}{\partial \tau} = 0$ if $\Delta = 0$. This leads to the following result (same result was also derived for the reduced model considered in [14]).

Theorem 4.8. Consider the treatment model (4.1) in the absence of backward bifurcation. The treatment of chronically-infected individuals offers

- (i) a positive population-level impact whenever $\Delta > 0$;
- (ii) no-population level impact if $\triangle = 0$;
- (iii) a detrimental impact population-level (increase disease burden) if $\Delta < 0$.

As noted by Elbasha [14], the threshold quantity, \triangle , is expected to always be positive since the cure rate (θ) is expected to exceed the natural recovery for chronicallyinfected individuals (δ), and that the relative infectiousness of treated individuals is small ($\chi_T < 1$). Similarly, differentiating the reproduction threshold (\mathcal{R}_T) partially with respect to the treatment failure rate for chronically-infected individuals (ρ) gives:

$$\frac{\partial \mathcal{R}_T}{\partial \rho} = \frac{\beta}{(\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon)} \frac{\pi \varepsilon \tau \Delta}{[(\mu + \delta)(\mu + \theta + \rho) + \tau(\mu + \theta)]^2},\tag{4.18}$$

so that \mathcal{R}_T is an increasing function of ρ whenever $\Delta > 0$, as expected.

4.5 Uncertainty and Sensitivity Analysis

As in Chapter 3, the impact of the uncertainties of the estimates of the parameters values (given in Table 4.2 and used in the numerical simulations of the treatment model (4.1)) are assessed. Furthermore, the sensitivity of the parameters of the

treatment model (4.1) is measured by finding PRCC between each parameter and control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T) .

A boxplot of the control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T) , as a function of the number of LHS runs carried out, is depicted in Figure 4.6, showing a range of \mathcal{R}_T from 1.44 to 1.48 (which is consistent with the range in [14]). It is worth mentioning that the \mathcal{R}_T range is marginally lower than the \mathcal{R}_0 range (given in Section 3.4) because a small treatment rate (4%) is used in the simulations for the boxplots in Figure 4.6. The boxplot corresponding to an increased treatment rate (70%) is depicted in Figure 4.7, showing a markedly decreased \mathcal{R}_T range (of $\mathcal{R}_T \in [1.33, 1.37]$).

Furthermore, Table 4.3 and Figure 4.5 give the PRCC values of the parameters of the model, from which it follows that the parameters that most affect \mathcal{R}_T (hence, drive the HCV transmission dynamics) are the effective contact rate (β), the rate of progression to chronic infection (ε), the rate of recovery from acute infection (σ), the death or retirement rate from the population (μ) and the relative infectivity of chronically-infected individuals (π). As in the case of the treatment-free model (3.2), further numerical simulations of the treatment model (4.1) (Figures 4.8 and 4.9) show that a 10% increase in the baseline values of these top-PRCC ranked parameters (β , ε , σ , μ and π) increases the cumulative incidence and prevalence of HCV in the community (and that a 10% decrease leads to a decrease in the cumulative incidence and prevalence of the disease during the first few years (about 10 years), and a marginal increase shortly thereafter).

4.6 Numerical Simulations

As in Chapter 3, the treatment model (4.1) is simulated using the parameters values given in Table 4.2 (unless otherwise stated). The following initial data (relevant to HCV dynamics in an IDU population [14]) is also used: (S(0), I(0), P(0), R(0), V(0), W(0), T(0), Q(0)) = (439000, 550, 350, 50, 20, 10, 10, 10).

The cumulative number of new cases, as a function of time, for various values of the re-infection rate (ψ) is shown in Figure 4.10. It is evident from Figure 4.10 that re-infection has little or no effect on the cumulative incidence of HCV for the first few years. The effect is, however, noticeable after about 7 years. In other words, this study shows that re-infection has marginal effect on HCV burden (as measured in terms of cumulative number of new cases) in the community. Similar results are obtained for the prevalence of HCV (Figure 4.11).

The effect of treatment of chronically-infected individuals on the cumulative incidence and prevalence of the disease is depicted in Figures 4.12 and 4.13, respectively. It follows from these figures that, as expected, the treatment of chronically-infected individuals significantly reduces the cumulative incidence and prevalence of HCV in the community. Furthermore, Figure 4.14 shows that the treatment of active IDU's, even if only a tiny percentage is treated, has a positive population-level impact (i.e., minimizes HCV burden in the IDU population). This figure also shows that the treatment of a sizeable proportion of chronically-infected individuals (e.g., $\tau = 70\%$) significantly reduces the prevalence of HCV in the population.

These simulations provide the answer to Question 4 in Section 1.3.

4.7 Summary of the Chapter

This chapter focuses on the rigorous analysis of the HCV transmission model in the presence of treatment, presented by Elbasha [14]. The aim was to extend the qualitative analyses in [14] (where only a special case of the treatment model was analysed) and explore new dynamical features (of the model) not observed or established in [14]. It was shown that the treatment model undergoes the phenomenon of backward bifurcation when the associated control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T) is less than unity. One of the notable contributions of this chapter is that three main scenarios where the backward bifurcation property of the treatment model can be removed are identified as follows.

The first is the absence of heterogeneity between primary infected and re-infected recovered individuals. In other words, the model will not undergo backward bifurcation if newly-infected and re-infected recovered individuals behave the same way (with respect to the rates of the infectivity recovery, disease progression and treatment). This result supports, and extends, the results reported in [14], where a special case (5-dimensional) of the 8-dimensional model (4.1) is analysed. Hence, this study shows that heterogeneity between primary infected individuals and reinfected individuals can induce the phenomenon of backward bifurcation in the transmission dynamics of a disease (such as HCV).

The second is in the presence of such heterogeneity, the backward bifurcation phenomenon can be removed *via* two cases, namely, (i) when re-infection of recovered individuals does not occur ($\psi = 0$); (ii) when acute, chronic and treated re-infected individuals do not transmit infection (i.e., $v = \omega = \chi_Q = 0$). For the case when re-infection does not occur, a comparison theorem is used to prove the global asymptotic stability of the disease-free equilibrium of the model when the associated reproduction number is less than unity.

The treatment model is shown to have a unique endemic equilibrium when the associated control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T) exceeds unity. In such a case, numerical simulations show that HCV will persist in the IDU population. These simulation results also provide answers to Questions 2 and 3 raised in Section 1.3.

Further simulations show that the re-infection of recovered individuals has marginal effect on the disease burden (as measured in terms of HCV cumulative incidence and prevalence in the community). Moreover, it is shown (as expected) that the treatment of chronically-infected individuals significantly reduces the cumulative incidence and prevalence of HCV in the IDU community.

Symbol	Description	
Variables		
S(t)	Population of susceptible individuals	
I(t)	Population of acutely-infected individuals	
P(t)	Population of chronically-infected individuals	
R(t)	Population of recovered individuals with partial immunity	
V(t)	Population of acutely-reinfected individuals	
W(t)	Population of chronically-reinfected individuals	
T(t)	Population of chronically-infected treated individuals	
Q(t)	Population of chronically-reinfected treated individuals	

Parameters

Λ	Recruitment rate
μ	Natural death rate
β	Contact rate
σ	Recovery rate from acute infection
δ	Recovery rate from chronic infection
ε	Rate of progression from acute infection to chronic infection
ψ	Relative susceptibility of recovered individuals
α	Relative rate of recovery from acute re-infection
η	Relative rate of recovery from chronic re-infection
κ	Relative rate of progression from acute re-infection to chronic re-infection
au	Treatment rate of chronically-infected individuals
ϕ	Treatment rate of chronically-re-infected individuals
θ	Treatment cure rate
ρ	Treatment failure rate of chronically-infected individuals
ζ	Treatment failure rate of chronically-re-infected individuals
γ	Rate of waning immunity
π	Relative infectivity of chronically-infected individuals
v	Relative infectivity of acutely-re-infected individuals
ω	Relative infectivity of chronically-re-infected individuals
χ_T	Relative infectivity of treated infected individuals
χ_Q	Relative infectivity of treated re-infected individuals

Table 4.1: Description of variables and parameters of the treatment model (4.1) [14].

Parameters	Baseline Values [14]	Ranges [14]
Λ	$39,600 \text{ year}^{-1}$	[35640, 43560]
μ	$0.09 \ year^{-1}$	[0.081, 0.099]
β	$2.68 \ year^{-1}$	[2.444, 2.948]
σ	0.5 year^{-1}	[0.45, 0.55]
δ	0.002 year^{-1}	[0.0018, 0.0022]
ε	1.5 year^{-1}	[1.35, 1.65]
ψ	0.5	[0.45, 0.55]
α	3.3	[2.97, 3.36]
η	3.3	[2.97, 3.36]
κ	1/3.3	[0.2727, 0.3333]
au	$0.04 \ year^{-1}$	[0.036, 0.044]
ϕ	$0.04 \ year^{-1}$	[0.036, 0.044]
θ	$0.67 \ year^{-1}$	[0.603, 0.737]
ρ	$0.82 \ year^{-1}$	[0.738, 0.902]
ζ	$0.82 \ year^{-1}$	[0.738, 0.902]
γ	0.025 year^{-1}	[0.0225, 0.0275]
π	0.01	[0.009, 0.011]
υ	1/6.5	[0.1386, 0.1694]
ω	1/6.5	[0.1386, 0.1694]
$\chi_T = \chi_Q = \chi$	0.5	[0.45, 0.55]

Table 4.2: Baseline values and ranges of the parameters of the treatment model (4.1).

Parameters	$\operatorname{PRCC}(\mathcal{R}_T)$
β	0.989521805
ε	-0.972702393
σ	-0.852219599
μ	-0.703177587
π	0.637106865
θ	-0.11532655
au	-0.097537395
δ	0.054609189
ρ	0.053632664
Λ	0.035866564
η	0.033461692
γ	-0.031457596
κ	-0.017800737
v	-0.014450844
χ	0.011501931
ζ	-0.010004813
α	-0.006900158
ψ	0.004427847
ω	0.004084257
ϕ	0.002943497

Table 4.3: PRCC values of the parameters of the treatment model (4.1), with \mathcal{R}_T as the output. Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.1: Schematic diagram of the treatment model (4.1) [14].



Figure 4.2: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the total number of infected individuals as a function of time, using various initial conditions. Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2, with $\beta = 1.68$ (so that, $\mathcal{R}_T = 0.8323$).



Figure 4.3: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the total number of infected individuals as a function of time, using various initial conditions. Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2 (so that, $\mathcal{R}_T = 1.4574$).



Figure 4.4: Backward bifurcation diagram for the treatment model (4.1), showing the prevalence as a function of the control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T). Parameter values used are: $\Lambda = 40640, \ \beta^* = 3.324462329, \ \mu = 0.091, \ \sigma = 0.255, \ \delta = 0.0025, \ \varepsilon = 3.5, \ \psi = 0.70, \ \alpha = 3.3, \ \eta = 4.050, \ \kappa = 0.0827, \ \tau = 0.70, \ \phi = 0.36, \ \theta = 0.7603, \ \zeta = 0.902, \ \rho = 0.638, \ \gamma = 0.0225, \ \pi = 0.019, \ \upsilon = 0.89999, \ \omega = 0.89999 \ \chi_T = 0.35, \ \text{and} \ \chi_Q = 0.745$ (so that, $a = 0.0001180441877 > 0; \ \mathcal{R}_T = 1$).



Figure 4.5: Distribution of PRCC values for the parameters of the treatment model (4.1). Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.6: Boxplots of the control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T) , as a function of the number of LHS runs (N_R) carried out, for the treatment model (4.1). Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.7: Boxplots of the control reproduction number (\mathcal{R}_T) , as a function of the number of LHS runs (N_R) carried out, for the treatment model (4.1) with increased treatment rate ($\tau = 70\%$). Parameter values and ranges used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.8: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the cumulative number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters in Table 4.3 (β , ε , σ , μ and π): green curve (10% decrease in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters); blue curve (baseline values); red curve (10% increase in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters). Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.9: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the prevalence of HCV as a function of time, for various values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters in Table 4.3 (β , ε , σ , μ and π): green curve (10% decrease in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters); blue curve (baseline values); red curve (10% increase in the baseline values of the top-five PRCC-ranked parameters). Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.10: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the cumulative number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the reinfection parameter (ψ): green curve ($\psi = 0.0$), blue curve ($\psi = 0.5$) and red curve ($\psi = 1.0$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.11: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the prevalence of total infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the re-infection parameter (ψ): green curve ($\psi = 0.0$), blue curve ($\psi = 0.5$) and red curve ($\psi = 1.0$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.12: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the cumulative number of new infected individuals as a function of time, for various values of the treatment rate of chronically-infected individuals (τ): green curve ($\tau = 0.04$), blue curve ($\tau = 0.4$) and red curve ($\tau = 0.7$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.13: Simulations of the treatment model (4.1), showing the prevalence of HCV as a function of time, for various values of the treatment rate of chronically-infected individuals (τ): green curve ($\tau = 0.04$), blue curve ($\tau = 0.4$) and red curve ($\tau = 0.7$). Parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2.



Figure 4.14: Simulations of the model (4.1), showing the prevalence of HCV as a function of time, in presence and absence of anti-HCV treatment: green curve shows the prevalence of HCV without treatment ($\tau = \phi = \zeta = \rho = \theta = \chi_T = \chi_Q = 0$), blue curve exhibit the prevalence where only 4% of chronically-infected IDUs are treated ($\tau = 0.04$) and red curve shows the prevalence of HCV for the case where 70% of chronically-infected IDUs are treated ($\tau = 0.7$). Other parameter values used are as given in Table 4.2.

Appendix A

Proof of Theorem 3.4

Proof. It is convenient to let

$$S = x_1, I = x_2, P = x_3, R = x_4, V = x_5, W = x_6,$$

so that the treatment-free model (3.2) can be re-written as:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx_1}{dt} &= f_1 = \Lambda - \lambda_{wt} x_1 - \mu x_1 + \gamma x_4, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} &= f_2 = \lambda_{wt} x_1 - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) x_2, \\ \frac{dx_3}{dt} &= f_3 = \varepsilon x_2 - (\mu + \delta) x_3, \\ \frac{dx_4}{dt} &= f_4 = \sigma x_2 + \delta x_3 + \alpha \sigma x_5 + \eta \delta x_6 - \psi \lambda_{wt} x_4 - (\mu + \gamma) x_4, \\ \frac{dx_5}{dt} &= f_5 = \psi \lambda x_4 - (\mu + \alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon) x_5, \\ \frac{dx_6}{dt} &= f_6 = \kappa \varepsilon x_5 - (\mu + \eta \delta) x_6, \end{aligned}$$
(A.1)

where,

$$\lambda_{wt} = \frac{\beta(x_2 + \pi x_3 + \upsilon x_5 + \pi \omega x_6)}{\sum_{i=1}^{6} x_i}$$

and $\mathbf{f} = [f_1, \cdots, f_6]^T$ represents the vector field of the model (3.2). Evaluating the Jacobian of the system (A.1) at the DFE (\mathcal{E}_0^{wt}) gives:

$$J(\mathcal{E}_{0}^{wt}) = \begin{pmatrix} -\mu & -\beta & -\beta\pi & \gamma & -\beta\upsilon & -\beta\omega\pi \\ 0 & \beta - G_{1} & \beta\pi & 0 & \beta\upsilon & \beta\omega\pi \\ 0 & \varepsilon & -G_{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma & \delta & -\mu - \gamma & \alpha\sigma & \eta\delta \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -G_{3} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \kappa\varepsilon & -G_{4} \end{pmatrix}$$

Consider the case of the model (A.1) with $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1$. Suppose, also, that β is chosen as the bifurcation parameter. Solving for β from $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1$ gives (where G_1 and G_2 are as defined in Subsection 3.3.1)

$$\beta^* = \frac{G_1 G_2}{\pi \varepsilon + G_2}.\tag{A.2}$$

The transformed system (A.1), with $\beta = \beta^*$, has a simple eigenvalue with zero real part (and all other eigenvalues have negative real parts). Hence, the centre manifold theory [6] can be used to analysed the dynamics of (A.1) near β^* . To apply the theory, the following computations are necessary.

Eigenvectors of $J(\mathcal{E}_0^{wt})|_{\beta=\beta^*}$:

Let $J(\mathcal{E}_0^{wt})|_{\beta=\beta^*} = J_{\beta^*}$. In order to apply the method described in [6], the following computations are necessary. The matrix J_{β^*} has a left eigenvector (associated with the zero eigenvalue) given by,

$$\mathbf{v} = [v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6],$$

where,

$$v_1 = 0, \ v_2 = v_2 > 0, \ v_3 = \frac{\beta^* \pi}{G_2} v_2, \ v_4 = 0,$$
$$v_5 = \frac{\beta^* (\pi \kappa \varepsilon \omega + v G_4}{G_3 G_4} v_2, \quad v_6 = \frac{\beta^* \pi \omega}{G_4} v_2.$$

Furthermore, the matrix J_{β^*} has a right eigenvector (associated with the zero eigenvalue) given by,

$$\mathbf{w} = [w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4, w_5, w_6]^T,$$

where,

$$w_1 = -\frac{\beta^*(\mu+\gamma)(\pi\varepsilon+G_2) - \gamma(\sigma G_2 + \delta\varepsilon)}{\mu G_2(\mu+\gamma)} w_2, \quad w_2 = w_2 > 0,$$

$$w_3 = \frac{\varepsilon}{G_2} w_2, \quad w_4 = \frac{\sigma G_2 + \delta\varepsilon}{G_2(\mu+\gamma)} w_2, \quad w_5 = 0, \quad w_6 = 0.$$

Computation of bifurcation coefficients, a and b:

It follows from Theorem 4.1 of [6] that, for the system (A.1), the associated non-zero partial derivatives of (A.1) (at the DFE, \mathcal{E}_0^{wt}) are given by

$$\frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_2 \partial x_2} = \frac{2\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_3 \partial x_2} = \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \pi \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_4 \partial x_2} = \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda},$$
$$\frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_2} = \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \upsilon \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_6 \partial x_2} = \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \omega \pi \mu}{\Lambda},$$

$$\begin{array}{l} \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_2 \partial x_3} &= \frac{\beta^* \pi \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_3 \partial x_3} &= \frac{2\beta^* \pi \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_4 \partial x_3} &= \frac{\beta^* \pi \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_3} &= \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_6 \partial x_3} &= \frac{\beta^* \pi \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu \omega}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_4} &= \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_3 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_6 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \pi \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_6 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \pi \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \omega \pi \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_6 \partial x_6} &= \frac{\beta^* \omega \pi \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_1}{\partial x_5 \partial x_2} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} + \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_6} &= \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_2} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_6} &= \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_6} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_4 \partial x_6} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_2 \partial x_2} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_3} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_4 \partial x_6} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_3} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_4 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_4 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_3 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu \omega}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_4 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \nu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_6} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_6} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda} - \frac{\beta^* \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_6} &= -\frac{\beta^* \mu \mu}{\Lambda}, \\ \frac{\partial^2 f_2}{\partial x_5 \partial x_5} &$$
$$\frac{\partial^2 f_5}{\partial x_2 \partial x_4} = \frac{\beta^* \psi \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_5}{\partial x_3 \partial x_4} = \frac{\beta^* \psi \pi \mu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_5}{\partial x_5 \partial x_4} = \frac{\beta^* \psi \mu \nu}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_5}{\partial x_6 \partial x_4} = \frac{\beta^* \psi \pi \mu \omega}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_5}{\partial x_6 \partial x_4} = \frac{\beta^* \psi \pi \mu \omega}{\Lambda}, \quad \frac{\partial^2 f_5}{\partial x_4 \partial x_5} = \frac{\beta^* \psi \omega \pi \mu}{\Lambda}.$$

It can be shown, by computing the non-zero partial derivatives of the right-hand side functions in (A.1), that the associated backward bifurcation coefficients, a and b, are given, respectively, by (see Theorem 4.1 in [6]):

$$a = \sum_{k,i,j=1}^{6} v_k w_i w_j \frac{\partial^2 f_k}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} (\mathcal{E}_0^{wt}, \beta^*) = \frac{-2\mu v_2 w_2^2 \beta^*}{\Lambda G_3 G_4 G_2^2 (\mu + \gamma)} \left[S_1 + (\varepsilon \delta + G_2 \sigma) S_2 \right], \quad (A.3)$$

where,

$$S_{1} = G_{3}G_{4}(\mu + \gamma)(G_{2} + \varepsilon) > 0, \quad S_{2} = G_{3}G_{4} - \frac{G_{1}G_{2}\psi(\pi\varepsilon\kappa\omega + G_{4}\upsilon)}{G_{2} + \pi\varepsilon}, \quad (A.4)$$

and,

$$b = \sum_{k,i=1}^{6} v_k w_i \frac{\partial^2 f_k}{\partial x_i \partial \beta} (\mathcal{E}_0^{wt}, \beta^*) = \frac{(G_2 + \pi\varepsilon)}{G_2} v_2 w_2 > 0.$$

It follows from (A.3) that the bifurcation coefficient, a, is positive whenever

$$S_2 > 0, \tag{A.5}$$

Thus, it follows, from Theorem 4.1 of [6], that the treatment-free model (3.2) (or, equivalently, (A.1)) undergoes backward bifurcation at $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1$ whenever Inequality (A.5) holds.

Appendix B

Model Formulation of the Treatment Model (4.1)

The population of susceptible individuals (S) is increased by the recruitment of new IDUs into the IDU population (at a rate Λ). It is further increased by the loss of infection-acquired immunity of recovered individuals (at a *per capita* rate γ). It is decreased by infection, following effective contacts with infected individuals, at a rate λ , given by

$$\lambda = \frac{\beta (I + \pi P + \upsilon V + \omega \pi W + \pi \chi_T T + \pi \chi_Q Q)}{N},$$
(B.1)

In (B.1), β is the effective contact rate, π , v, ω , χ_T and χ_Q are modification parameters accounting for the relative infectivity of chronically-infected, acutely-reinfected, chronically-re-infected, treated infected and treated re-infected individuals, in comparison to acutely infected individuals, respectively. This population is further decreased by natural death (at a rate μ ; this rate is assumed, for mathematical convenience, to be the same for all of the epidemiological compartments). Thus,

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \Lambda + \gamma R - \lambda S - \mu S.$$

The population of acutely-infected individuals (I) is increased by the infection of susceptible individuals (at the rate λ). It is decreased by recovery (at a rate σ), progression to chronic stage (at a rate ε) or natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dI}{dt} = \lambda S - (\sigma + \varepsilon + \mu)I.$$

The population of chronically-infected individuals (P) is generated by progression of acutely-infected individuals to the chronically-infection (at the rate ε). It is also increased by treatment failure of chronically-infected individuals (at a rate ρ). This population is decreased by treatment (at a rate τ), recovery (at a rate δ) or natural death. Hence,

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = \varepsilon I + \rho T - (\delta + \tau + \mu)P.$$

The population of recovered individuals (R) is generated by the recovery of acutelyinfected individuals (at the rate σ), chronically-infected individuals (at the rate δ), acutely-re-infected individuals (at a rate $\alpha\sigma$, where $\alpha > 1$ is the modification parameter accounting for the assumption that acutely-re-infected individuals recover at a faster rate in comparison to acutely-infected individuals), and chronically-re-infected individuals (at a rate $\eta\delta$ where, $\eta > 1$ is the modification parameter accounting for the assumption that chronically-re-infected individuals recover at a faster rate in comparison to chronically-re-infected individuals recover at a faster rate in comparison to chronically-infected individuals) [14]. It is also increased by the successfully treatment of chronically-infected and chronically-re-infected individuals (at a rate θ). This population is decreased by infection (at a reduced rate $\psi\lambda$, where $0 < \psi < 1$ accounting for the assumption that recovered individuals acquire HCV infection at a rate lower than susceptible individuals). It is further decreased by the loss of infection-acquired immunity (at the rate γ) and natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dR}{dt} = \sigma I + \delta P + \alpha \sigma V + \eta \delta W + \theta T + \theta Q - \psi \lambda R - (\gamma + \mu) R$$

The population of acutely re-infected individuals (V) is increased by the re-infection of recovered individuals (at the rate $\psi\lambda$). It is decreased by progression to the chronic re-infection stage (at a rate $\kappa\varepsilon$, where $0 < \kappa < 1$ is the modification parameter accounting for the assumption that acutely-re-infected individuals progress to the chronically-re-infection stage (W) at a slower rate in comparison to acutely-infected individuals), recovery (at the rate $\alpha\sigma$) or natural death. Hence,

$$\frac{dV}{dt} = \psi \lambda R - (\alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon + \mu) V.$$

The population of chronically-reinfected individuals (W) is increased by the progression of acutely-reinfected individuals (at the rate $\kappa \varepsilon$) and by the failure of treatment in chronically-re-infected individuals (at a rate ζ). It diminishes by recovery (at the rate $\eta \delta$), treatment of chronically-re-infected individuals (at a rate ϕ) or natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = \kappa \varepsilon V + \zeta Q - (\eta \delta + \phi + \mu) W.$$

The population of chronically-infected treated individuals (T) is increased by the treatment of the chronically-infected individuals (at the rate τ). It is decreased by treatment failure or successful treatment of the chronically-infected individuals (at the rates ρ and θ , respectively) or by natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dT}{dt} = \tau P - (\rho + \theta + \mu)T.$$

Similarly, the population of chronically-re-infected individuals (Q) is generated by the successful treatment of chronically-re-infected individuals (at the rate ϕ). It diminishes by the treatment failure or successful treatment of the chronically-reinfected individuals (at the rates ζ or θ , respectively). It is further decreased by the natural death. Thus,

$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = \phi W - (\zeta + \theta + \mu)Q.$$

Appendix C

Proof of Theorem 4.5

Proof. It is convenient to let

$$S = x_1, I = x_2, P = x_3, R = x_4, V = x_5, W = x_6, T = x_7, Q = x_8,$$

so that the treatment model (4.1) can be re-written as:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx_1}{dt} &= f_1 = \Lambda - \lambda x_1 - \mu x_1 + \gamma x_4, \\ \frac{dx_2}{dt} &= f_2 = \lambda x_1 - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) x_2, \\ \frac{dx_3}{dt} &= f_3 = \varepsilon x_2 + \rho x_7 - (\mu + \delta + \tau) x_3, \end{aligned}$$
(C.1)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dx_4}{dt} &= f_4 = \sigma x_2 + \delta x_3 + \alpha \sigma x_5 + \eta \delta x_6 + \theta x_7 + \theta x_8 - \psi \lambda x_4 - (\mu + \gamma) x_4, \\ \frac{dx_5}{dt} &= f_5 = \psi \lambda x_4 - (\mu + \alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon) x_5, \\ \frac{dx_6}{dt} &= f_6 = \kappa \varepsilon x_5 + \zeta x_8 - (\mu + \eta \delta + \phi) x_6, \\ \frac{dx_7}{dt} &= f_7 = \tau x_3 - (\mu + \rho + \theta) x_7, \\ \frac{dx_8}{dt} &= f_8 = \phi x_6 - (\mu + \zeta + \theta) x_8, \end{aligned}$$

where,

$$\lambda = \frac{\beta(x_2 + \pi x_3 + \upsilon x_5 + \pi \omega x_6 + \pi \chi_T x_7 + \pi \chi_Q x_8)}{\sum_{i=1}^8 x_i},$$

and $f = [f_1, \dots, f_8]^T$ represents the vector field of the model (4.1). Evaluating the Jacobian of the system (C.1) at the DFE (\mathcal{E}_0^T) gives:

$$J(\mathcal{E}_{0}^{T}) = \begin{pmatrix} -\mu & -\beta & -\beta\pi & \gamma & -\beta\upsilon & -\beta\omega\pi & -\beta\chi_{T}\pi & -\beta\chi_{Q}\pi \\ 0 & \beta - K_{1} & \beta\pi & 0 & \beta\upsilon & \beta\omega\pi & \beta\chi_{T}\pi & \beta\chi_{Q}\pi \\ 0 & \varepsilon & -K_{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 & \rho & 0 \\ 0 & \sigma & \delta & -\mu - \gamma & \alpha\sigma & \eta\delta & \theta & \theta \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & -K_{3} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \kappa\varepsilon & -K_{4} & 0 & \zeta \\ 0 & 0 & \tau & 0 & 0 & 0 & -K_{5} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \phi & 0 & -K_{6} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Consider the case of the model (C.1) with $\mathcal{R}_T = 1$. Suppose, also, that β is chosen as the bifurcation parameter. Solving for β from $\mathcal{R}_T = 1$ gives

$$\beta^* = \frac{K_1(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau)}{K_2K_5 - \rho\tau + \pi\varepsilon K_5 + \pi\chi_T\tau\varepsilon}.$$
(C.2)

The transformed system (C.1), with $\beta = \beta^*$, has a simple eigenvalue with zero real part (and all other eigenvalues have negative real parts). Hence, the centre manifold theory [6] can be used to analysed the dynamics of (C.1) near β^* .

As in Appendix A, let $J(\mathcal{E}_0^T)|_{\beta=\beta^*} = J_{\beta^*}$. Define the left and right eigenvectors

of J_{β^*} , respectively, by

$$\mathbf{v} = [v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5, v_6, v_7, v_8], \text{ and } \mathbf{w} = [w_1, w_2, w_3, w_4, w_5, w_6, w_7, w_8]^T,$$

where,

$$v_{1} = 0, \ v_{2} = v_{2} > 0, \ v_{3} = \frac{\beta^{*}(\pi K_{5} + \pi \chi_{T} \tau)}{(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho \tau)} v_{2}, \ v_{4} = 0,$$

$$v_{5} = \frac{\beta^{*}(K_{6}\pi\kappa\varepsilon\omega + v(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi) + \pi\phi\kappa\varepsilon\chi_{Q})}{K_{3}(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)} v_{2},$$

$$v_{6} = \frac{\beta^{*}(\pi\omega K_{6} + \pi\chi_{Q}\phi)}{(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)} v_{2}, \ v_{7} = \frac{\beta^{*}(\pi\chi_{T}K_{2} + \pi\rho)}{(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau)} v_{2}, \ v_{8} = \frac{\beta^{*}(\pi\chi_{Q}K_{4} + \pi\zeta\omega)}{K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi} v_{2}.$$

and,

$$\begin{split} w_1 &= -\frac{\beta^*(\mu+\gamma)(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau + \pi\varepsilon K_5 + \pi\chi_T\tau\varepsilon) - \gamma(\sigma(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau) + \delta\varepsilon K_5 + \tau\varepsilon\theta)}{\mu(\mu+\gamma)(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau)}w_2, \\ w_2 &= w_2 > 0, \quad w_3 = \frac{\varepsilon K_5}{(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau)}w_2, \quad w_4 = \frac{\sigma(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau) + \delta\varepsilon K_5 + \tau\varepsilon\theta}{(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau)(\mu+\gamma)}w_2, \\ w_5 &= 0, \quad w_6 = 0, \quad w_7 = \frac{\tau\varepsilon}{(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau)}w_2, \quad w_8 = 0. \end{split}$$

It can be shown (by computing the associated non-zero partial derivatives of (C.1) at the DFE (\mathcal{E}_0^T)) that the associated backward bifurcation coefficients, a and b, are given, respectively, by:

$$a = \sum_{k,i,j=1}^{8} v_k w_i w_j \frac{\partial^2 f_k}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} (\mathcal{E}_0^T, \beta^*),$$

= $\frac{-2\mu v_2 w_2^2 K_1}{\Lambda K_3 (K_4 K_6 - \zeta \phi) (K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau) (\mu + \gamma)} (C_1 + C_2 F - \beta^{**} \psi F C_3),$ (C.3)

where,

$$C_{1} = K_{3}(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)(\mu + \gamma)(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau + \varepsilon K_{5} + \tau\varepsilon),$$

$$C_{2} = K_{3}(K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi),$$

$$C_{3} = (K_{4}K_{6} - \zeta\phi)\upsilon + K_{6}\varepsilon\kappa\pi\omega + \phi\varepsilon\kappa\pi\chi_{Q},$$

$$F = \sigma(K_{2}K_{5} - \rho\tau) + \delta K_{5}\varepsilon + \tau\varepsilon\theta,$$
(C.4)

and (noting that $K_2K_5 - \rho\tau > 0$ and $K_4K_6 - \zeta\phi > 0$),

$$b = \sum_{k,i=1}^{8} v_k w_i \frac{\partial^2 f_k}{\partial x_i \partial \beta} (\mathcal{E}_0^T, \beta^*) = \frac{(K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau + \pi \varepsilon K_5 + \pi \chi_T \tau \varepsilon)}{(K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau)} v_2 w_2 > 0.$$

It follows from (C.3), with (C.4), that the bifurcation coefficient, a, is positive whenever

$$J_2 > J_1, \tag{C.5}$$

where,

$$J_1 = K_3(K_4K_6 - \zeta\phi)F + K_3(\mu + \gamma)(K_4K_6 - \zeta\phi)(K_2K_5 - \rho\tau + \varepsilon K_5 + \tau\varepsilon),$$

$$J_2 = \beta^*\psi[(K_4K_6 - \zeta\phi)\upsilon + K_6\varepsilon\kappa\pi\omega + \phi\varepsilon\kappa\pi\chi_Q]F.$$

Thus, it follows, from Theorem 4.1 of [6], that the treatment model (4.1) (or, equivalently, (C.1)) undergoes backward bifurcation at $\mathcal{R}_T = 1$ whenever Inequality (C.5) holds.

Appendix D

Proof of Theorem 4.6

Proof. It should, first of all, be mentioned that the system (D.1) satisfies the Type K condition [44] (hence, Comparison Theorem can be used [32]). Furthermore, consider the following reduced model (D.1) of the treatment model (4.1) for the special case with $\psi = 0$, given by:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dS}{dt} &= \Lambda - \lambda S - \mu S + \gamma R, \\ \frac{dI}{dt} &= \lambda S - (\mu + \sigma + \varepsilon) I, \\ \frac{dP}{dt} &= \varepsilon I + \rho T - (\mu + \delta + \tau) P, \end{aligned} \tag{D.1}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dR}{dt} &= \sigma I + \delta P + \alpha \sigma V + \eta \delta W + \theta T + \theta Q - (\mu + \gamma) R, \\ \frac{dV}{dt} &= -(\mu + \alpha \sigma + \kappa \varepsilon) V, \\ \frac{dW}{dt} &= \kappa \varepsilon V + \zeta Q - (\mu + \eta \delta + \phi) W, \\ \frac{dT}{dt} &= \tau P - (\mu + \rho + \theta) T, \\ \frac{dQ}{dt} &= \phi W - (\mu + \zeta + \theta) Q. \end{aligned}$$

It follows from (D.1) that $V(t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$. Hence, the equation for $\frac{dV}{dt}$ can be temporal removed from (D.1). The infected components of the model (D.1) (with the equation for $\frac{dV}{dt}$ removed) can be re-written as:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathbf{x} = (\mathcal{F}_1 - \mathcal{H}_1)\mathbf{x} - J\mathbf{x},\tag{D.2}$$

where,

$$\mathbf{x} = [I(t), P(t), W(t), T(t), Q(t)]^T,$$

(with K_1 , K_2 , K_4 , K_5 and K_6 as defined in Section 4.1) and,

Thus, J is a non-negative matrix since

$$S(t) \leq N(t) \leq \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_T .

Hence, it follows from (D.2) that

$$\frac{d}{dt} \mathbf{x} \le (\mathcal{F}_1 - \mathcal{H}_1) \mathbf{x}. \tag{D.3}$$

Since $\mathcal{R}_T|_{\psi=0} = \rho(\mathcal{F}_1\mathcal{H}_1^{-1}) = \mathcal{R}_T \leq 1$ (or, equivalently, the eigenvalues of the matrix $\mathcal{F}_1 - \mathcal{H}_1$ all have negative real parts), it follows that the linearized differential inequality system (D.3) is stable whenever $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$. Thus, it follows, by Comparison Theorem [32], that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} (I(t), P(t), W(t), T(t), Q(t)) \to (0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$$

Substituting I(t) = P(t) = W(t) = T(t) = Q(t) = 0 into the (D.1) and using the fact that $V(t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$ show that $S(t) \to S^*$ as $t \to \infty$ (for $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$). Therefore,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} (S(t), I(t), P(t), V(t), W(t), T(t), Q(t)) \to (S^*, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0) = \mathcal{E}_0^T|_{\psi=0}.$$

Hence, the DFE (\mathcal{E}_0^T) of the reduced model (D.1) is GAS in \mathcal{D}_T whenever $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$. \Box

Appendix E

Proof of Non-existence of Backward Bifurcation in the Reduced Model (4.4)

Proof. Consider the reduced model (4.4). For this model [14], the disease-free equilibrium is

$$\bar{\mathcal{E}}_0 = (\bar{S}^*, \bar{I}^*, \bar{P}^*, \bar{R}^*, \bar{T}^*) = (\frac{\Lambda}{\mu}, 0, 0, 0, 0),$$

and,

$$\bar{\mathcal{R}}_c = \frac{\beta(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau + \pi\varepsilon\bar{K}_3 + \pi\chi_T\tau\varepsilon)}{\bar{K}_1(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)},$$

where $\bar{K}_1 = \mu + \sigma + \varepsilon$, $\bar{K}_2 = \mu + \delta + \tau$, $\bar{K}_3 = \mu + \rho + \theta$. It can be shown, as in Appendix C, that the associated backward bifurcation coefficients, *a* and *b*, are given, respectively, by (see Theorem 4.1 in [6]):

$$\bar{a} = \frac{-2\mu\bar{v}_{2}\bar{w}_{2}^{2}}{\Lambda(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau)^{2}(\mu+\gamma)} \left[\bar{K}_{1}(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau)(\mu+\gamma)(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau+\varepsilon\bar{K}_{3}+\tau\varepsilon) + \bar{K}_{1}(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau)\bar{F}-\bar{\beta}^{*}\psi(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau+\pi\varepsilon\bar{K}_{3}+\pi\chi_{T}\tau\varepsilon)\bar{F}\right],$$
(E.1)

where,

$$\bar{\beta}^* = \frac{\bar{K}_1(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)}{\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau + \pi\varepsilon\bar{K}_3 + \pi\chi_T\tau\varepsilon}, \quad \bar{F} = \sigma(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau) + \delta\bar{K}_3\varepsilon + \tau\varepsilon\theta, \quad (E.2)$$

$$\bar{b} = \frac{\left(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau + \pi\varepsilon\bar{K}_3 + \pi\chi_T\tau\varepsilon\right)}{\left(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau\right)}\bar{v}_2\bar{w}_2 > 0, \tag{E.3}$$

where $\bar{\mathbf{v}}$ and $\bar{\mathbf{w}}$ are, respectively, the left and right eigenvectors corresponding to zero eigenvalue of the Jacobian of the system (4.4), evaluated at the associated disease-free equilibrium ($\bar{\mathcal{E}}_0$), given by:

$$\bar{J}|_{\bar{\beta}^*}(\bar{\mathcal{E}}_0) = \begin{pmatrix} -\mu & -\bar{\beta}^* & -\bar{\beta}^*\pi & \gamma & -\bar{\beta}^*\chi_T\pi \\ 0 & \bar{\beta}^* - \bar{K}_1 & \bar{\beta}^*\pi & 0 & \bar{\beta}^*\chi_T\pi \\ 0 & \varepsilon & -\bar{K}_2 & 0 & \rho \\ 0 & \sigma & \delta & -\mu - \gamma & \theta \\ 0 & 0 & \tau & 0 & -\bar{K}_3 \end{pmatrix},$$

with $\bar{\mathbf{v}} = [\bar{v}_1, \bar{v}_2, \bar{v}_3, \bar{v}_4, \bar{v}_5]$, where,

$$\bar{v}_1 = 0, \ \bar{v}_2 = \bar{v}_2 > 0, \ \bar{v}_3 = \frac{\beta^* (\pi \bar{K}_3 + \pi \chi_T \tau)}{(\bar{K}_2 \bar{K}_3 - \rho \tau)} \bar{v}_2, \ \bar{v}_4 = 0, \ \bar{v}_5 = \frac{\bar{\beta}^* (\pi \chi_T \bar{K}_2 + \pi \rho)}{(\bar{K}_2 \bar{K}_5 - \rho \tau)} \bar{v}_2,$$

and $\bar{\mathbf{w}} = [\bar{w}_1, \bar{w}_2, \bar{w}_3, \bar{w}_4, \bar{w}_5]^T$, with,

$$\begin{split} \bar{w}_1 &= -\frac{\bar{\beta}^*(\mu+\gamma)(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau + \pi\varepsilon\bar{K}_3 + \pi\chi_T\tau\varepsilon) - \gamma[\sigma(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau) + \delta\varepsilon\bar{K}_3 + \tau\varepsilon\theta]}{\mu(\mu+\gamma)(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)}\bar{w}_2, \\ \bar{w}_2 &= \bar{w}_2 > 0, \quad \bar{w}_3 = \frac{\varepsilon\bar{K}_3}{(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)}\bar{w}_2, \quad \bar{w}_4 = \frac{\sigma(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau) + \delta\varepsilon\bar{K}_3 + \tau\varepsilon\theta}{(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)(\mu+\gamma)}\bar{w}_2, \\ \bar{w}_5 &= \frac{\tau\varepsilon}{(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)}\bar{w}_2. \end{split}$$

Substituting (E.2) into (E.1) gives:

$$\bar{a} = \frac{-2\mu\bar{v}_2\bar{w}_2^2}{\Lambda(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)^2(\mu + \gamma)} \left[\bar{K}_1(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)(\mu + \gamma)(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau + \varepsilon\bar{K}_3 + \tau\varepsilon) + \bar{K}_1(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)\bar{F} - \psi\bar{K}_1(\bar{K}_2\bar{K}_3 - \rho\tau)\bar{F}\right],$$

$$= \frac{-2\mu\bar{v}_{2}\bar{w}_{2}^{2}}{\Lambda(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau)^{2}(\mu+\gamma)} \left[\bar{K}_{1}(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau)(\mu+\gamma)(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau+\varepsilon\bar{K}_{3}+\tau\varepsilon) + \bar{K}_{1}(\bar{K}_{2}\bar{K}_{3}-\rho\tau)(1-\psi)\bar{F}\right].$$

Since $\psi < 1$, the bifurcation coefficient \bar{a} is always negative. Furthermore, the bifurcation coefficient \bar{b} is always positive. Thus, it follows from Item (iv) of Theorem 4.1 in [6], that the reduced model (4.4) does not undergo backward bifurcation in this case.

Appendix F

Proof of Theorem 4.7

Proof. Consider the treatment model (4.1) for the special case $v = \omega = \chi_Q = 0$. It follows, from the next generation operator method [50] that $\hat{\mathcal{R}}_T$ (the associated control reproduction number of the treatment model (4.1) with $\lambda = \hat{\lambda}$) is given by:

$$\hat{\mathcal{R}}_T = \rho \left[\hat{\mathcal{F}} \hat{\mathcal{H}}^{-1} \right] = \frac{\beta \left[(K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau) + \pi \varepsilon K_5 + \chi_T \pi \varepsilon \tau \right]}{K_1 (K_2 K_5 - \rho \tau)} = \mathcal{R}_T, \quad (F.1)$$

where, the matrices $\hat{\mathcal{F}}$ (of new infection terms), and $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ (of the transition terms) evaluated at the DFE (\mathcal{E}_0^T) are given, respectively, by:

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}} = \begin{pmatrix} \beta & \pi\beta & \chi_T \pi \beta \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } \hat{\mathcal{H}} = \begin{pmatrix} K_1 & 0 & 0 \\ -\varepsilon & K_2 & 0 \\ 0 & -\tau & K_5 \end{pmatrix}.$$

with, K_1 , K_2 and K_5 , as defined in Section 4.1.

The proof is based on the Comparison Theorem [32]. First of all, as in Appendix D, it should be mentioned that the equations of the infected components of the treatment model (4.1), with $\lambda = \hat{\lambda}$, satisfies the Type K condition [44] (hence, Comparison Theorem can be used [32]). Furthermore, the infected components of

the treatment model (4.1), with $\lambda = \hat{\lambda}$, can be re-written as:

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathbf{x} = (\hat{\mathcal{F}} - \hat{\mathcal{H}})\mathbf{x} - \hat{J}\mathbf{x}, \tag{F.2}$$

where,

$$\mathbf{x} = [I(t), P(t), T(t)]^T,$$

and,

$$\hat{J} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \frac{\mu S(t)}{\Lambda} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \beta & \pi\beta & \chi_T \pi \beta \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus, \hat{J} is a non-negative matrix since

$$S(t) \le N(t) \le \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$$
 in \mathcal{D}_T .

Hence, it follows from (F.2) that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\mathbf{x} \le (\hat{\mathcal{F}} - \hat{\mathcal{H}})\mathbf{x}.$$
(F.3)

Since $\hat{\mathcal{R}}_T = \rho(\hat{\mathcal{F}}\hat{\mathcal{H}}^{-1}) = \mathcal{R}_T \leq 1$ (or, equivalently, the eigenvalues of the matrix $(\hat{\mathcal{F}} - \hat{\mathcal{H}})$ all have negative real-parts), it follows that the linearized differential inequality system (F.3) is stable whenever $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$. Thus, it follows, by Comparison Theorem [44], that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} (I(t), P(t), T(t)) \to (0, 0, 0).$$

It should be noted that setting I(t) = P(t) = T(t) = 0 implies $\hat{\lambda} = 0$. Hence, substituting $\hat{\lambda} = 0$ into the equation for $\frac{dv}{dt}$ in (4.1) gives $V(t) \to 0$, as $t \to \infty$. Substituting (I(t), P(t), V(t), T(t)) = (0, 0, 0, 0) into the model (4.1) gives the following system of linear equations

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = \zeta Q - (\mu + \eta \delta + \phi) W,$$
(F.4)
$$\frac{dQ}{dt} = \phi W - (\mu + \zeta + \theta) Q,$$

from which it is clear that the system (F.4) has only one equilibrium, $(W^*, Q^*) = (0,0)$, which is stable (hence, globally-asymptotically stable, since the system is linear and eigenvalues of the associated Jacobin evaluated at (0,0) have negative real part). Thus, $(W(t), Q(t)) \rightarrow (0,0)$, as $t \rightarrow \infty$. Finally, substituting

$$(I(t), P(t), V(t), W(t), T(t), Q(t)) = (0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0),$$

into the equations for $\frac{dR}{dt}$ and $\frac{dS}{dt}$ in the treatment model (4.1) shows that $R(t) \to 0$ and $S \to S^* = \frac{\Lambda}{\mu}$, as $t \to \infty$ when $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$. Therefore,

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} (S(t), I(t), P(t), R(t), V(t), W(t), T(t), Q(t)) \to (S^*, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0, 0)$$
$$= \mathcal{E}_0^T|_{v = \omega = \chi_Q = 0}.$$

Hence, the DFE (\mathcal{E}_0^T) , of the treatment model (4.1), with $\lambda = \hat{\lambda}$, is GAS in \mathcal{D}_T whenever $\mathcal{R}_T < 1$.

Bibliography

- M.J. Alter. Epidemiology of Hepatitis C virus infection. World J. Gastroenterol. 13(17)(2007): 2436-2441.
- [2] D. Amarapurkar. Natural history of Hepatitis C virus infection. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 15(2000): E105-E110.
- [3] R. M. Anderson and R. M. May. Population Biology of Infectious Diseases. Springer-Verlag Berlin, Heidelrberg, New york. 1982.
- [4] S. M. Blower and H. Dowlatabadi. Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis of complex models of disease transmission. Int. Stat. Rev. 62(2)(1994): 229-243.
- [5] J. Carr. Applications of Centre Manifold Theory. Springer-Verlag. New York, 1981.
- [6] C. Castillo-Chavez and B. Song. Dynamical models of tuberculosis and their applications. *Math. Biosci. Engrg.* 2(2004): 361-404.
- [7] C. Castillo-Chavez, K. Cooke, W. Huang and S.A. Levin. Results on the dynamics for models for the sexual transmission of the human immunodeficiency virus. *Appl. Math. Letters.* 2(1989): 327-331.
- [8] S. Corson and D. Greenhalgh. Mathematical modelling the spread of Hepatitis C in injecting drug users. *Math. Med. Biol.* 29(3)(2012): 205-230.

- [9] S. Corson, D. Greenhalgh and S.J. Hutchinson. A time since onset of injection model for Hepatitis C spread amongst injecting drug users. J. Math. Biol. 66(4-5)(2013): 935-978.
- [10] A. M. Di Bisceglie. Natural history of Hepatitis C: Its impact on clinical management. *Hepatology.* **31**(2000): 1014-1018.
- [11] O. Diekmann, J. Heesterbeek, and J. Metz. On the definition and computation of the basic reproduction ratio R₀ in models for infectious disease in heterogeneous population. *Math. Biosci.* 180(2002): 29-48.
- [12] K. Dietz. Transmission and Control of Arbovirus Disease in Epidemiology. SIAM, Philadelphia. K. L. Cooke ed., 1975: 104-121
- [13] J. Dushoff, W. Huang and C. Castillo-Chavez. Backward bifurcations and catastrophe in simple models of fatal diseases. J. Math. Biol. 36(1998): 227-248.
- [14] E. H. Elbasha. Model for Hepatitis C virus transmissions. Math. Biosci. Engrg. 10(4)(2013): 1045-1065.
- [15] E. H. Elbasha and A.B. Gumel. Theoretical assessment of public health impact of imperfect prophylactic HIV-1 vaccines with therapeutics benefits. *Bull. Math. Biol.* 68(2006): 577-614.
- [16] L. Esteva and C. Vergas. Influence of vertical and mechanical transmission on the dynamics of dengue disease. *Math Biosci.* 167(1)(2000): 51-64.
- [17] P. Ferenci and K. R. Reddy. Impact of HCV protease-inhibitor-based triple therapy for chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. Antivir Ther. 16(2011): 1187-1201.
- [18] S.M. Garba, A.B Gumel and M.R. Abu Bakar. Backward bifurcation in dengue transmission dynamics. *Math. Biosci.* 215(2008): 11-25.

- [19] M. G. Ghany, D. B. Strader, D. L. Thomas and L. B. Seek. Diagnosis, management, and treatment of hepatitis C: an update. *Hepatology*. 49(2009): 1335-1374.
- [20] R. J. Garten, J. Zhang, Sh. Lai, W. Liu, J. Chen and X. F. Yu. Co-infection with HIV and Hepatitis C virus among injection drug users in Southern China. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 41(1)(2005): S18-S24.
- [21] J. Grebely, M. Prins, M. Hellard, A. L. Cox, W. O. Osburn, G. Lauer, K. Page, A. R. Lloyd and G. J. Dore. Hepatitis C virus clearance, re-infection, and persistence, with insights from studies of injecting drug users: towards a vaccine. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 12(2012): 408-414.
- [22] A.B. Gumel. Causes of backward bifurcations in some epidemiological models.J. Math. Anal. Appl. 395(1)(2012): 355-365.
- [23] A.B. Gumel and B. Song. Existence of multiple-stable equilibria for a multidrug-resistant model of mycobacterium tuberculosis. *Math. Biosci. Engrg.* 5(2008): 437-455.
- [24] J. K. Hale. Ordinary Differential Equations. John Wiley and Sons, New York. 1969.
- [25] H.M. Hethcote. The Mathematics of infectious diseases. SIAM Rev. 42(2000): 599-963.
- [26] M.W. Hirsch, S. Smale and R.L. Devaney. Differential Equations, Dynamical Systems and an Introduction to Chaos. *Elselvier Academic Press.* 60(2004).
- [27] J. H. Hoofnagle. Hepatitis C: The clinical spectrum of disease. *Hepatology*.
 26(3)(1997): 15S-20S.

- [28] S. Kamal. Acute hepatitis C: A systematic review. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 103(2008): 1283-1297.
- [29] M. G. Kendall and A. Stuart. The Advanced Theory of Statistics. 4th ed. Vol.2. Macmillan Publishing Company. New York, 1979.
- [30] K. Kiyosawa, E. Tanaka, T. Sodeyama, K. Yoshizawa, K. Yabu, K. Furuta, H. Imai, Y. Nakano, S. Usuda and K. Uemura. Transmission of Hepatitis C in an isolated area in Japan: community-acquired infection. The South Kiso Hepatitis Study Group. J. Gastroenterology. 106(6)(1994): 1596-1602.
- [31] M. Kretzschmar and L. Wiessing. Modeling the transmission of Hepatitis C in injecting drug users. European Monitoring Centre for Drug and Drug Addiction Monograph.
- [32] V. Lakshmikantham, S. Leela and A.A. Martynyuk. Stability Analysis of Nonlinear Systems. *Marcel Dekker Inc, New York and Basel*, 1989.
- [33] C. L. Leen. Hepatitis C and HIV co-infection. Int J STD AIDS. 15(5)(2004): 289-295.
- [34] S. Marino, I. B. Hogue, C. J. Ray and D. E. Kirschner. A methodology for performing global uncertainty and sensitivity analysis in systems biology. J. Theo. Biol. 254(1)(2008): 178-196.
- [35] N. K. Martin, P. Vickerman and M. Hickman. Mathematical modelling of Hepatitis C treatment for injecting drug users. J. Theo. Biol. 274(1)(2011): 58-66.
- [36] N. K. Martin, P. Vickerman, G. R. Foster, S. J. Hutchinson, D. J. Goldberg and M. Hickman. Can antiviral therapy for hepatitis C reduce the prevalence of HCV among injecting drug user populations? A modelling analysis of its prevention utility. J. Hepatology 54(2011): 1137-1144.

- [37] M. D. Mc.Kay and R. J. Conover. A comparison of three methods for selecting values of input variables in the analysis of output from a computer code. J. *Technometrics.* 21(2)(1979): 239-245.
- [38] R. G. McLeod, A. B. Gumel and D. A. Slonowsky. Sensitivity and uncertainty analysis for a sars model with time-varying inputs and outputs. *Math. Biosci. Engrg.* 3(3)(2006): 527-544.
- [39] S. Noguchi, M. Sata, H. Suzuki, M. Mizokami and K. Tanikawa. Routes of transmission of Hepatitis C virus in an endemic rural area of Japan; molecular epidemiologic study of Hepatitis C virus infection. Scand. J. Infect. Dis. 29(1997): 23-28.
- [40] L. Perko. Differential Equations And Dynamical Systems. Springer, New York. 2001.
- [41] M. A. Sanchez and S. M. Blower. Uncertainty and sensitivity analysis of the basic reproductive rate. Am. J. Epidemio. 145(12)(1997): 1127-1137.
- [42] O. Sharomi, C.N. Podder, A.B. Gumel, E. Elbasha and J. Watmough. Role of incidence function in vaccine-induced backward bifurcation in some HIV models. *Math. Biosci.* 210(2)(2007): 436-463.
- [43] C.W. Shepard and L. Finelli, M.J. Alter. Global epidemiology of Hepatitis C virus infection. *Lancet. Infect. Dis.* 5(9)(2005): 558-567.
- [44] H. L. Smith. Monotone Dynamical Systems: An Introduction to the Theory of Competitive and Cooperative Systems. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs. *American Mathematical Society. Providence.* 41, 1995.
- [45] A.J. Sutton, N.J. Gray, W.J. Edmunds, V.D. Hope, O.N. Gill and M. Hickman. Modelling the force of infection for hepatitis B and hepatitis C in injecting drug users in England and Wales. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 6(2006): 93-102.

- [46] M. J. Sweeting, V. D. Hope, M. Hickman, J. V. Parry, F. Ncube, M. E. Ramsay, and D. De Angelis. Hepatitis C infection among injecting drug users in England and Wales (1992-2006): there and back again? Am. J. Epidemiol. 170(3)(2009): 352-360.
- [47] H. R. Thieme and H. W. Hethcote. Stability of the endemic equilibrium in epidemic models with subpopulations. *Math. Biosci.* 75(2)(1985): 205-227.
- [48] B.J. Thomson and R.G. Finch. Hepatitis C virus infection. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 11(2)(2005): 83-165.
- [49] C. Van Den Berg, B. Colette, S. Giel Van Brussel, R. Coutinho, and M. Prins. Full participation in harm reduction program is associated with decreased risk for human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus. J. Addiction 102(9)(2007): 1454-1462.
- [50] P. van den Driessche and J. Watmough. Reproduction numbers and subthreshold endemic equilibria for compartmental models of disease transmission. *Math. Biosci.* 180(2002): 29-48.
- [51] P. Vickerman, M. Hickman and A. Judd. Modeling the impact of Hepatitis C transmission of reducing syringe sharing: London case study. Int. J. Epidemiol. 36(2)(2007): 396-405.
- [52] P. Vickerman, L. Platt and S. Hawkes. Modeling the transmission of HIV and HCV among injecting drug users in Rawalpindi, a low HCV prevalence setting in Pakistan. *Sex. Transm. Infect.* 85(2009): ii23-ii30.
- [53] A. Wasley and M. J. Alter. Epidemiology of Hepatitis C: geographic differences and temporal trends. *Semin. Liver. Dis.* 20(2000): 1-16.

- [54] World Health Organization (WHO), \Facts Sheet: Hepatitis C," http://www.who.int/ mediacentre/factsheets/fs164/en/index.html (accessed October 29, 2012).
- [55] S. Wiggins. Introduction to Applied Nonlinear Dynamical Systems and Chaos. Springer- Verlag, New York. 1983.
- [56] J. Yuan and Z. Yang. Global dynamics of an SEI model with acute and chronic stages. J. Compu. App. Math. 213(2)(2008): 465-476.
- [57] C.K. Zaleta and J. Velasco-Hernandez. A simple vaccination model with multiple endemic state. *Math. Biosci.* 164(2000): 183-201.
- [58] S. Zhang and Y. Zhou. Dynamics and application of an epidemiological model for Hepatitis C. J. Math. Comp. Biol. 56(1-2)(2012): 36-42.